## CMHC-SCHL

## Addressing the Housing Needs of Immigrants and Refugees Through Transitional Housing and Wrap-around Supports

A Literature Review

# Immigrant & Refugee Community Organization of Manitoba (IRCOM)

Primary author: Mateja Carevic

Project team: Shereen Denetto, Dr. Sarah Zell, Dr. Aynslie Hinds, Dr. Jill

Bucklaschuk, Dr. Lawrence Deane

(Note that Sarah, Mateja, and Aynslie are not officially affiliated with IRCOM)

11-1-2020

#### Unclassified

## Contents

Executive Summary	3
1.0 Introduction	
2.0 Literature Review Summary	6
2.1 Housing Report	9
2.1.1 Table of Housing Indicators and Outcomes	12
2.2 Language Proficiency Report	18
2.2.1 Table of Language Proficiency Indicators and Outcomes	21
2.3 Financial Literacy Report	24
2.3.1 Table of Financial Literacy Indicators and Outcomes	29
2.4 After-School Youth Programs Report	31
2.4.1 Table of After-School Youth Programs Indicators and Outcomes	35
2.5 Childcare and Early Childhood Education Report	38
2.5.1 Table of Childcare and Early Childhood Education Indicators and Outcomes	43
2.6 Community Connections Report	45
2.6.1 Table of Community Connections Indicators and Outcomes	50
3.0 Relevant External Data Sets	53
Appendix: Literature Review Bibliography	57

ш	nc	lassi	itie	r

This study was conducted for Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation (CMHC) under Part IX of the *National Housing Act*. The analysis, interpretations and recommendations are those of the consultant and do not necessarily reflect the views of CMHC.

## **Executive Summary**

This report summarizes two activities of the Immigrant and Refugee Community Organization of Manitoba (IRCOM)'s National Housing Strategy (NHS)-funded planning project:

- A literature review on housing, language proficiency, financial literacy, after-school youth program, childcare and early childhood education, and community connections indicators and outcomes, and
- 2) A compilation of relevant provincial- and national-level datasets.

A series of *Literature Reviews* identify key outcomes and indicators of settlement and integration across a range of relevant thematic areas, focusing on areas most relevant to IRCOM's programming, including:

- Housing
- Language proficiency
- Financial literacy
- After-school youth programs
- Childcare and early childhood education
- Community connections

The reviews provide a basic, evidence-based understanding of newcomer settlement-related indicators and outcomes, and how they are commonly measured, for each area.

The *Relevant External Datasets* section compiles a list of relevant provincial- and national-level data sets that include data on immigrants and refugees and their settlement and integration outcomes. If internal organizational and program-level data variables are collected in a format and manner consistent with the data in these data sets, it could enable data linkages and expand possibilities for comparative research. In the list of data sets compiled here an overview of the data, source, and description of each data set are provided.

#### 1.0 Introduction

The Immigrant and Refugee Community Organization of Manitoba (IRCOM) is a community-based non-profit organization that provides affordable transitional housing to newcomer refugee families across two housing complexes. It has a unique housing model that also provides wrap-around social, recreational, and educational programming, supporting tenants as they build knowledge and capacities relevant to living in Canada. These supports enable newcomers to settle and integrate into the broader community after a three-year stay at IRCOM. IRCOM is one of few such models in Canada.

In 2018, IRCOM received funding under the National Housing Strategy's Research and Planning Fund to support this planning project. This report summarizes the findings of some of the foundational activities completed for this project, used to inform IRCOM's successful application for research funding under the National Housing Strategy Research and Planning Fund (2019). This goal of the follow-up Research project, which commenced in March 2020, is to measure those factors that contribute to newcomers' successful transition to appropriate and affordable housing, and those social factors that contribute to successful settlement and integration of refugees into Canadian society. Results from the research project are expected in summer of 2021.

There were multiple activities and final products that resulted from the 2018 planning project. Below is a description of two of them.

#### Phase 1 - Literature Review

The objective of the literature review was to identify key indicators and outcomes of settlement/integration across a range of relevant thematic areas. IRCOM was interested not only in housing outcomes, but also in how its model of housing plus support services impacts newcomer settlement outcomes. Because of the breadth of the literature on newcomer settlement/integration, the literature review focused on areas that are most relevant to IRCOM programming.

In addition to a review of relevant housing indicators and outcomes in the literature, five additional reviews were undertaken, with the aim of providing a basic, evidence-based understanding of newcomer settlement-related outcomes and indicators for each area. Overall, six reviews were completed, related to: (1) housing, (2) language proficiency, (3) financial literacy, (4) after-school youth programs, (5) childcare and early childhood education, and (6) community connections.

Details about how the literature reviews were undertaken and highlights of the findings are described in Section 2 – "Literature Review Summary." The findings of each literature review are presented in a 5-8–page summary plus a bibliography and are accompanied by a table of example outcomes and indicators.

## Phase 2 – Data Quality and Management Practices

The second phase of the project included a review of the literature on best practices on data quality and a review of existing data sources at IRCOM. This phase involved an assessment of all data management practices at IRCOM, as well as an inventory of all data collection sources and the 1000+ data variables currently collected across the organization and its programs. Much of the work for this phase was internal to IRCOM's assessment and benchmarking of its own practices and is not included in this report. However, the findings from the scan of existing data sources is a good companion to the literature review and may be useful to immigrant serving organizations. The main sources of information for this data review were Statistics Canada and the Canadian Institute for Health Information. The list of "Relevant External Data Sets" that resulted from this scan is provided in Section 3.

## 2.0 Literature Review Summary

#### **Process**

The main objective of the literature reviews was to explore how selected programs and services offered at IRCOM may impact settlement and integration of immigrants and refugees, and to identify how the settlement-related outcomes of these programs are measured. The main program and service areas covered by the review are: 1) housing, 2) language proficiency, 3) financial literacy, 4) after-school youth programs, 5) childcare and early childhood education, and 6) community connections. This literature review covers studies released between 2000 and 2019 published in Canada, United States, Europe, Australia, and New Zealand. The search for relevant material was based on a review of the contents of national and international journals, as well as research published by government agencies, NGOs, and research institutes.

#### **Results**

Reports of each selected topic discuss important findings from the literature, and elaborate on identified indicators and outcomes. (Identified indicators and outcomes, as well as ways they have been measured in the literature, are also listed in detail in a separate Excel database that was produced during this review; in many cases these include sample measurement tools or survey questions, etc.).

Note that the following are the main domains of the searches, with just one example of an identified outcome/indicator listed under each (i.e., these are not comprehensive or exhaustive, but are included as highlights).

#### 1) Housing

• In the literature on housing outcomes of newcomers to Canada, **affordability** emerged as the main housing issue for many newcomers. This means that they have to dedicate a large proportion of their income to housing, leaving them with few resources to cover the costs of other basic needs.

**Affordability Indicators:** Households spending 30% or more of their pre-tax income on shelter costs are considered to be in core housing need, if their income is such that they could not afford alternative suitable and adequate housing in their community. Households that spend 50% or more of their pre-tax income on shelter are in severe housing need.

#### 2) Language Proficiency

 Proficiency in an official language is one of the most important factors contributing to successful integration because it enables newcomers to participate in the social, economic, political, and cultural aspects of society. For instance, research findings suggest that immigrant language skills are strongly related to their labour market outcomes. Knowledge of official language(s) affects immigrants' earnings and labour market access. **Labour Market Outcomes Indicators:** Commonly used indicators of the impact of language proficiency on labour market outcomes include weekly, monthly, or annual wages and earnings, as well as the type and status of employment.

#### 3) Financial Literacy

 Financial literacy education has a potential to increase financial knowledge and help individuals and families make well-informed financial decisions that will contribute to their financial well-being. One of the goals of financial literacy education is to impact financial behaviour.

**Financial Behaviour Outcomes Indicators**: These indicators measure the extent to which people are behaving in financially literate ways, such as how they are controlling spending and whether they are paying bills on time, engaging in financial planning, saving for the future, or using a budget.

#### 4) After-School Youth Programs

After-school programs offer a wide range of activities, including participation in sports
and arts activities, community engagement, and assistance with homework, that can
have many positive outcomes. Research studies show that involvement in community
programs provide youth with opportunities for socialization and access to enriching
experiences that promote development of academic skills.

**Academic Achievement Indicators**: Academic achievements may be measured by years of schooling completed, degrees or credentials earned, honours or awards received, improved grades, homework completion, and also school retention, such as grade repetition or being behind in a grade relative to one's age.

#### 5) Childcare and Early Childhood Education

 Immigrant children disproportionately face stressors in early childhood, such as low family income, low parental education, and lack of exposure to the English language which may affect their ability to enter school ready to learn. High-quality early childhood education programs have a potential to affect school readiness in immigrant children.

**School Readiness Indicators:** Tests that measure pre-reading and pre-math skills.

#### 6) Community Connections

 Social connectedness and participation in one's community benefit individuals and a community as a whole. Individuals' feelings and attitudes about their social status in the community, sense of belonging, level of trust in others and institutions, experiences of discrimination, and perceptions of safety are important for interpreting their social connectedness and community engagement. For instance, **sense of belonging** has been positively associated with one's desire to engage in and contribute to the community by voting in elections, participating in group activities, or volunteering.

**Sense of Belonging Indicators**: Proportion of the population who report a somewhat strong or very strong sense of belonging to their community/neighbourhood/country.

## 2.1 Housing Report

Affordable and suitable housing acts as a stabilizing factor that has long term-implications on social, cultural, and economic integration of newcomers to Canada (Bucklaschuk 2019; Carter, Polevychok and Osborne 2009; Francis & Hiebert 2014; May 2007; Shier et al. 2014). For example, Carter and Polevychok (2004) argue that secure housing establishes the circumstances for access to other formal and informal supports and networks. Good housing for immigrants facilitates and reduces the length of the resettlement and integration process. Good housing also reduces long-term costs to society in other areas such as health, education, social assistance and employment insurance.

For many newcomers accessing acceptable housing is difficult. The Canadian Mortgage and Housing Corporation (CMHC) defines acceptable housing as housing that is in adequate condition (not needing any major repairs), of suitable size (enough rooms for its household), and affordable (cost less than 30% of pre-tax income). Newcomers are constrained by a number of factors, including large structural barriers and individual characteristics (Francis 2009; Wayland 2007). Wayland (2007) identifies three levels of barriers: *primary barriers*, which are defined as unchangeable characteristics of a person and include race, ethnicity, culture, religion, gender, age, and disability; *secondary barriers*, which include factors that can change over time, such as level and source of income, family size, and household type and language; and finally *macro-level barriers*, which are broader contextual factors that a person cannot change, such as the state of housing markets, government policies regarding housing, and social constructions of differences and exclusion. These barriers create multiple disadvantages that prevent newcomers from accessing acceptable housing.

In the literature on housing outcomes of newcomers to Canada, affordability emerged as the main housing issue for many newcomers (Francis and Hiebert 2014; Hiebert, Mendez and Wyly 2006; Hiebert et al. 2006; Murdie 2005; Murdie and Logan 2011; Preston et al. 2011; Rose and Ray 2001; Wayland 2007). In their study on housing experiences of recent immigrants in Kelowna and Kamloops, Teixeira and Drolet (2018) found that many newcomers experience 'culture shock' in respect to housing affordability. Most respondents in their study (82.5% in Kelowna; 57.5% in Kamloops) "described a wide gap between their expectations and the reality, thinking it would be relatively easy to find affordable housing in Canada" (Teixeira and Drolet, 2018, p. 29). According to the CMHC, in 2011, 29.6% of newcomer households were considered to be in core housing need, meaning they spent more than 30% of their income on housing; this was almost three times the rate for non-immigrant households (CMHC 2014). Similarly, using the data from Longitudinal Survey of Immigrants to Canada (LSIC), Hiebert (2010) reported that "nearly three-quarters of the survey respondents at the first wave spent more than 30% of their income on rent. In fact, over half lived in households that had to dedicate over half of their income to rent" (p. 280).

To cope with unaffordable rents and avoid homelessness some immigrants are forced to share accommodation with friends or relatives from the same ethnic background or country, to sublet

parts of a residence, or to couch-surf (Teixeira 2009). A number of studies have revealed that hidden homelessness appears to be a common experience among many newcomers, and especially refugees, who are unable to afford housing in the private market due to low incomes and high rents (Chan et al. 2005; Francis and Hiebert 2014; Murdie 2005; Preston et al. 2011; Sherrell 2010; Teixeira 2014). For instance, a study on refugees in Vancouver's housing market shows that nearly half (43%) of all respondents stayed with family, friends, in a shelter, or in a place not normally intended as a residence (such as a church or warehouse) because they could not afford housing. The incidence was even higher for refugee claimants (80%) and sponsored refugees (46%) (Francis and Hiebert 2014).

Despite numerous barriers they experience upon their arrival to Canada, very few immigrants and refugees were found to be using homeless shelters. Instead, they rely on their own social networks to cope with unaffordable housing markets. Chan et al. (2005) found that people who offer accommodation often live in precarious housing themselves. To illustrate, they cite that 61% of those offering assistance are themselves in core housing need. Although sharing accommodations helps many newcomers avoid the worst forms of homelessness, it often results in inadequate, substandard, and crowded housing situations.

On the positive side, it appears that despite initial struggles, most immigrants in Canada tend to experience a progressive housing career. In other words, their incomes tend to increase over time, their housing conditions improve, and they experience rising rates of homeownership the longer they have lived in Canada. For example, analyzing data from the three waves of LSIC, Hiebert and Mendez (2008) observed a remarkable change in access to affordable housing over the 18 months between the first and second waves. They explained that "given the substantial rise in average incomes over this period, the proportion living in affordable housing (less than 30% on rent) increased from a little over a quarter to fully half by the second wave of the survey" (Hiebert and Mendez 2008, p. 4). They also found that the homeownership rate of newcomers increased from under 20% in the first wave, to one-third in the second, to 52% in the third wave. This means that within four years of landing in Canada more than half of the survey respondents lived in owner-occupied housing.

However, not all immigrants experience progressive housing careers. In fact, there are significant differences in regards to housing experiences based on one's immigration and visible minority status. Hiebert and Mendez (2008) observed that immigrants accepted to Canada through the family and economic classes already had high ownership rates in the first wave, while skilled workers and refugees tended to start their new life in Canada as tenants. However, while skilled workers' propensity to purchase a home greatly increased in subsequent waves, refugees' ownership rates remained relatively low. This finding is not surprising since many refugees come to Canada without any financial assets, have limited official language skills and education, are more likely to experience discrimination in the labour and housing markets based on their race and ethnicity, and have much lower income and employment rates compared to other immigrant groups (Carter et al. 2008).

The precarious housing situation of refugees in Canada is well documented (Carter et al. 2008; Carter and Osborne 2009; Carter, Polevychok and Osborne 2009; Chan et al. 2005; D'Addario et al. 2007; Francis 2008; Francis and Hiebert 2016; Hiebert et al. 2006; Hiebert 2011; Mensah and Williams 2013; Murdie 2005; Rose and Ray 2001; Sherrell et al. 2007; Teixeira 2008). Murdie's (2005) study reveals that both sponsored refugees and refugee claimants spend over 50% of their income on rent, leaving them with very little means to pay for food and other essentials. Due to severe affordability issues, refugees are at a higher risk of homelessness and hidden homelessness. Unlike other immigrant groups, refugees often lack an extensive social support network and are more likely to 'fall between cracks' (D'Addario et al. 2007). Furthermore, refugees, especially those of African origin, are also more likely to experience discrimination in the labour and housing markets due to their accent, skin colour, and country of origin, as well as family size and immigration status (Francis 2009). Discrimination further aggravates existing disadvantages and undermines newcomers' prospects of successful integration.

Fortunately, there is some evidence that housing outcomes of many refugees improve over time. In a three-year study of refugee households in Winnipeg, Carter et al. (2009) observed that the "average shelter-to-income ratios for renters dropped from 31% in year one to 22% in year three." However, access to cheaper accommodation also means that many refugees end up in smaller, older units that are often in deteriorating conditions. Similarly, in a study on housing experiences of recent refugees in Winnipeg, Carter et al. (2008) found that despite difficult living conditions, refugees experience positive housing trajectories in the two years following arrival in Canada. Notable improvements were also observed in housing affordability, income and employment rates, satisfaction with housing conditions and neighbourhood, knowledge of landlord/tenant rights and responsibilities, and overall knowledge of the city and housing market. (The Excel table created for IRCOM to accompany these reviews has more information on measures and indicators of these outcomes.)

Hiebert (2017) found positive long-term housing trajectories (up to 31 years since arriving to Canada) of immigrants and refugees in Montreal, Toronto, and Vancouver analyzing data from the Immigrant Landing File and the 2011 National Household Survey. Results of the study indicate that in general, immigrants reach high levels of home ownership, especially in Toronto and Vancouver, and probably have a significant impact on the housing markets of the two cities. But there are also many who cannot find a comfortable foothold in the housing market. The experiences of refugees in the three cities are highlighted; in the long term, refugees approach the total population in terms of home ownership levels and, also, the ratio of individuals under financial stress in the housing market (Hiebert 2017, p. 52).

Although it appears that the majority of immigrants achieve housing circumstances similar to their Canadian-born counterparts, these outcomes were found to take significantly longer to materialize compared to previous cohorts, and they vary across immigrant groups. Overall, research findings suggest that there are three broad categories of housing outcomes among immigrants in Canada: immigrants who arrive to Canada with financial assets and easily attain homeownership in a very short time period; immigrants who become owners after initial

difficulties and sacrifices; and lastly there are immigrants who continue to struggle in the housing market (Brown 2017). However, compared to other immigrant groups, refugees experience more severe affordability issues, substandard housing conditions, crowding, tend to be at higher risk of homelessness, and still often have to overcome discrimination based on their race, ethnicity, country of origin, household size, income, and other personal characteristics.

A review of the housing literature highlights that access to affordable, adequate, and suitable housing is a crucial element of successful integration because it allows newcomers to develop a sense of stability, allowing them to focus on other aspects of their lives. Still, housing alone is only part of the complex factors that influence the (re)settlement process. May (2007) states that providing "affordable housing without making concessions to other aspects of people's lives in which they may need assistance only gets at half of the problem" (p. 1). For individuals and families with multiple needs and barriers, providing housing alone is not sufficient to significantly improve their non-housing outcomes, such as health, family stability, educational attainment, employment and income outcomes (Pomeroy and Marquis-Bissonnette 2016). In order to overcome barriers, individuals and families may require access to resident-based services, such as adult education, job training, financial literacy, language classes, and other services tailored to individual needs (Proscio 2006).

## **2.1.1** Table of Housing Indicators and Outcomes

HOUSING	DESCRIPTION	EXAMPLES OF INDICATORS
OUTCOMES		
Affordability	Housing affordability is based on a ratio of housing costs to total household income. A household paying 30% or more of its pre-tax income for housing is considered to have affordability problems. Housing is considered to be affordable when a household spends less than 30% of its pre-tax income on adequate shelter.	% of households paying 30% or more of pre-tax income for housing
Core Housing Need	A household is said to be in 'core housing need' if its housing falls below at least one of the adequacy, affordability, or suitability standards and it would have to spend 30% or more of its total before-tax income to pay the median rent of alternative local housing that is acceptable (meets all three housing standards).  Adequate housing is reported by their residents as not requiring any major repairs.	<ul> <li>% of households paying 30% or more of pre-tax income for housing</li> <li>Dwelling in need of major repairs</li> <li>Dwelling does not have enough bedrooms for the size and composition of the household</li> </ul>

Severe Housing	Affordable housing has shelter costs equal to less than 30% of total before-tax household income. Suitable housing has enough bedrooms for the size and composition of resident households according to National Occupancy Standard (NOS) requirements.  Households that spend 50% or more of their	• % of households paying	
Need	pre-tax income on shelter are in severe housing need.	50% or more of its pre-tax income for housing	
Acceptable Housing	The term 'acceptable housing' refers to housing that is in adequate condition, of suitable size, and affordable.  a. Adequate dwellings are those reported by their residents as not requiring any major repairs.  b. Suitable dwellings have enough bedrooms for the size and make-up of resident households, according to National Occupancy Standard (NOS) requirements.  c. Affordable dwellings cost less than 30% of before-tax household income.	<ul> <li>Place in a good condition</li> <li>Place in need of repairs</li> <li>Number of people in current dwelling</li> <li>% of households paying less than 30% of pre-tax income for housing</li> </ul>	
Suitability	Suitability: There are enough bedrooms for the size and make-up of the household. This means one bedroom for: a. each cohabiting adult couple; b. each lone parent; c. each unattached household member 18 years of age or over; d. each same-sex pair of children under age 18; e. and each additional child in the family, unless there are two opposite-sex children under age 5, in which case they may share a bedroom Source: National Occupancy Standards (NOS) requirements.	<ul> <li>Number of people that live in a household (i.e., space with shared kitchen and/or bathroom)</li> <li>Number of bedrooms in a house</li> </ul>	
Crowding	Based on National Occupancy Standards (NOS) of suitable housing, households that require at least one additional bedroom are considered to experience some degree of overcrowding.	<ul> <li>Number of people that live in a dwelling (share kitchen and/or bathroom)</li> <li>Number of adults (19 years of age or older)</li> </ul>	

	Housing suitability measures whether a dwelling has enough space for its inhabitants.  NOS Definition:  a. There are no more than two persons per bedroom  b. Parents have a bedroom that's separate from children  c. Members that are age 18 or older have their own bedroom unless they are married or living common-law  d. Children age 5 or older do not share a bedroom if they are of the opposite sex.	<ul> <li>Number of children (under 19 years of age)</li> <li>Number of separate bedrooms (do not include living room) in a dwelling</li> </ul>
Housing Stress	Housing stress occurs when the cost of housing (either as rental, or as a mortgage) is high relative to household income.  Source: Mendez, Hiebert, and Wyly (2006)	• Housing stress: a. none (savings equivalent to more than 12 months' rent) b. none (paying less than 30% of family income on rent; savings equivalent to less than 12 months' rent) c. moderate (paying 30% or more of family income on rent, savings equivalent to more than 3 months' rent, less than 12 months' rent) d. high (paying 30–49% of family income for rent; savings equivalent to less than 3 months' rent) e. severe (paying 50% or more of family income for rent; savings equivalent to less than 3 months' rent) rent)
Residential Mobility	Number, nature, and reasons for moving.	<ul> <li>Number of places lived in as a residential location (residential location: living in a place 6+ weeks)</li> <li>Duration of tenure at current place</li> <li>Housing mobility by household type (nonfamily household, family household, expanded family households, etc.)</li> </ul>

		<ul> <li>Housing mobility by area         (e.g., inner-city, outer-city,         suburbs)</li> <li>Reasons for moving</li> </ul>
Housing Search	The process of searching for housing.	<ul> <li>Average number of landlords contacted</li> <li>Average number of dwellings inspected</li> <li>Length of search (one month or less; one to 3 months; more than 3 months)</li> <li>Most important information sources (e.g., friends/relatives; local newspapers/bulletins/websites; settlement services/organizations/NGOs)</li> <li>Housing search difficulty (very difficult; somewhat difficult; somewhat easy; very easy)</li> </ul>
Barriers / Difficulties Accessing Housing	Obstacles that prevent immigrants/refugees from accessing housing.	What are the barriers that immigrants encounter in the housing search (e.g., money, lack of information, language ability, racial discrimination, family size, lack of transportation, etc.)
Discrimination in the Housing Market	Housing discrimination is defined as "actions by landlords or their staff which means you are refused an apartment for unfair reasons, and/or have to pay higher rent than others for no valid reason, and/or have fewer neighborhoods to choose from than others simply because you are a [group name] newcomer" (Dion 2001, p. 531).	<ul> <li>Experience of personal discrimination (i.e., the personal experience of the respondent and their immediate family)</li> <li>Experience of group discrimination (i.e., to what extent respondents thought their ethnic group was facing housing discrimination)</li> </ul>

Housing Condition	Refers to physical state of dwelling.	<ul> <li>Size of place</li> <li>Place in a good condition</li> <li>Place in need of repairs</li> <li>Repair problems not addressed</li> <li>Place not safe for children</li> <li>Place contributes to health problems</li> </ul>
Housing Satisfaction	Refers to overall satisfaction with housing and its elements.	Satisfaction with housing     Satisfaction with elements of housing (e.g., ability to control air temperature; air quality; lighting; safety (hazards in unit); design/floor plan; cooking facilities/kitchen; storage)
Neighbourhood Satisfaction	Satisfaction with neighbourhood.	<ul> <li>Neighbourhood feels like a "community"</li> <li>Neighbourhood satisfaction (measured, e.g., by accessibility and proximity to transit; access to amenities; noise level; perceptions of friendliness and privacy; security/safety; relationships with neighbours; housing type/quality/availability)</li> </ul>
Housing Trajectories	Refers to the process of integration in Canada that is associated with improving income levels, better housing, and rising rates of homeownership over time (Hiebert 2010).	Measures of housing trajectories (changes tracked over a period of time):

		<ul> <li>Renters paying 30% or more for shelter</li> <li>Owners paying 30% or more for shelter</li> <li>Units do not meet National Occupational Standards</li> </ul>
Homelessness	Refers to homelessness and 'hidden homelessness.'	Incidence and duration, since arriving in Canada, of:  Staying with friends because couldn't afford own housing  Stayed with family because couldn't afford own housing  Stayed in an emergency shelter  Lived in a place not intended as a residence (e.g., church, mosque, warehouse, vehicle)
Tenant / Landlord Relationships	Refers to relationships between tenants and landlords, and knowledge of rights and responsibilities.	<ul> <li>Experienced problems with current/past landlord</li> <li>Specific problems with landlords (repairs not done, landlord won't issue receipt, etc.)</li> <li>Experienced discrimination/harassment by landlord</li> <li>Violation of landlord/tenant law</li> <li>Problems with understanding and interpreting the rental agreement</li> <li>Knowledge of tenant/landlord rights and responsibilities</li> </ul>

## 2.2 Language Proficiency Report

Proficiency in an official language is one of the most important factors contributing to successful settlement and integration of Canada's immigrants and refugees. Ability to communicate in the host language(s) enables newcomers to participate in the social, economic, political, and cultural aspects of society. Research findings suggest that the level of language proficiency affects different dimensions of integration, including labour market outcomes, civic and democratic participation, health outcomes, education, and a sense of belonging in the new society. Knowing the language(s) of the host society enables newcomers to successfully navigate daily activities like shopping, using transportation, obtaining housing, and accessing social services. Yet, many newcomers continue to experience language difficulties years after settling in Canada. For example, one study analyzing Statistics Canada's Longitudinal Survey of Immigrants to Canada (LSIC), which followed the integration process of immigrants who came to Canada between October 2000 and September 2001, found that four years after arriving in Canada, survey participants cited language difficulties as the second largest barrier to integration (Grondin 2005).

Immigrant language skills are strongly related to their labour market outcomes. Knowledge of official language(s) affects immigrants' earnings and labour market access (Boyd and Cao 2009; Chiswick and Miller 2002; Dustmann and Fabbri 2003; Ferrer, Green and Riddell 2004; Grondin 2007; Skuterud 2011). While other factors, like lack of recognition of international experience and education, lack of Canadian work experience, and discrimination also contribute to labour market outcomes, research studies have demonstrated that language proficiency has a strong direct impact on labour market outcomes and enhances the effect of pre-immigration experience and education (Chiswick and Miller 2002). For instance, Boyd and Cao (2009) explain why language proficiency can impact outcomes and earnings:

First, because it facilitates oral and written communication with supervisors, subordinates, peers, suppliers, and customers, language proficiency increases labour productivity and, therefore, earnings. Second, host country language proficiency is complementary with other productivity-enhancing forms of human capital, particularly education; knowing the language(s) of the destination country increases the utilization of education in the work-place. Third, language proficiency influences occupational opportunities. (p. 67)

Commonly used indicators of the impact of language proficiency on labour market outcomes include weekly, monthly, or annual wages and earnings, as well as the type and status of employment. For example, Boyd and Cao (2009) examined the relationship between weekly wages and language proficiency. In this study language proficiency represented the extent to which one or more official languages is understood and used in different contexts. Participants were asked about their mother tongue, home language used most often, and conversational knowledge of the official language. There was a strong link between language proficiency and earnings. In particular, compared to permanent residents who are highly proficient in English

and/or French (i.e., English and/or French is mother tongue, used most often at home, and used in conversation), those with lower levels of proficiency have lower weekly earnings. Immigrant women with the highest level of language proficiency earned on average \$684 per week, compared to \$427 earned by women with no knowledge of English or French. The same is true for immigrant men; those with the highest level of proficiency earned \$1,042 per week, while men with the lowest level earned \$579 per week (Boyd and Cao 2009).

Another study, which used data from the LSIC, revealed that in addition to wages, language proficiency also affected the rate of employment and the likelihood to find 'appropriate' employment (Grondin 2005). Specifically, they found that the rate of employment increased with the ability to speak the official language. Furthermore, immigrants who reported their level of English or French was 'good' or 'very good' were also more likely to hold an appropriate job, which was defined as a job that is high-skilled, in the field intended by the immigrant, in the same field as the job held before immigrating, and related to the immigrant's field of training or education (Grondin 2005).

Knowledge of the official language(s) is also related to civic participation among immigrants. Although the research is not extensive, several studies indicate that language proficiency determines the level of civic engagement (Baer 2008; Boyd 2009; Dudley 2002). These studies use the following indicators of civic participation: participation in various types of organizations and groups; tendency to vote in federal, provincial, and municipal elections; and a sense of belonging to family, ethnic, or cultural group, town, city or municipality, province, and to Canada and North America (Baer 2008). For example, Baer (2008) conducted a study of civic participation among a few immigrant communities to test whether a lack of knowledge of the official language can explain the limited participation in voluntary organizations. Findings show that language has an important role in civic participation among immigrants. In particular, the study found that immigrants who do not adopt English as a home language are less engaged in community organizations than immigrants who speak English at home. Civic participation among immigrants is an important indicator of social integration because it can indicate social cohesion and the existence of social networks that assist in social integration of immigrants (Boyd 2009). Lack of civic participation can indicate the existence of barriers to taking part in the host society.

Participation in the broader community is especially important for the integration of refugees. Yet, due to numerous challenges they face, including those related to physical and mental health, language barriers, and discrimination, they tend to rely on their own ethnic groups to meet their resettlement needs. While the support of ethnic networks is crucial during the initial stages of adjustment, involvement in the broader community provides refugees with valuable opportunities to acquire language skills and social connections they need to access information and services regarding education, employment, housing, and health care (Goodkind and Foster-Fishman 2002).

As one example, interviews with Hmong refugees in the United States revealed that despite their desire to participate in their communities their meaningful participation was limited by language barriers and discrimination (Goodkind and Foster-Fishman 2002). The broader communities lacked the capacity to include the Hmong refugees in their activities. In particular, notices for meetings and group activities were posted in English and interpreters were not presents during these meetings or activities. As the result, Hmong refugees who did not understand English were effectively precluded from participating. While community participation promotes language development, language barriers may prevent refugees from participating in the first place. In other words, community participation is beyond individual capacities and also requires intentional efforts by the broader community to provide means and resources that facilitate participation of all ethnic groups.

Limited language proficiency is also associated with negative health outcomes. According to research study findings, those who are not proficient in one of the official languages are underserved by Canadian health care system (Bowen 2004; Ng, Pottie and Spitzer 2011; Gulati et al. 2012; Sentell et al. 2007; Thomspon et al. 2015). In particular, limited language skills are associated with negative health outcomes because language barriers may be impairing access to health services, creating economic difficulties and reducing social participation (Ng, Pottie and Spitzer 2011). Language barriers also influence experiences with medical staff, meaning that inability to communicate may impact providers' treatment and prescribing behaviour. This may further result in lower standards of care and negative health outcomes (Bowen 2004).

Language proficiency is also strongly related to educational outcomes. Research studies that examined the relationship between language proficiency and academic performances of immigrant students show that the lack of ability to use or understand the official language(s) is associated with lower grade point averages (GPAs), lower likelihood of meeting curriculum targets, lower graduation rates, higher drop-out rates, and impairment of social, emotional, and behavioural adaption to educational institutions (Bayliss and Raymond 2004; Martirosyan et al. 2015; Oliver et al. 2012; Whiteside et al. 2017). For example, a study that compared the undergraduate academic achievement of first- and second-generation immigrant students to that of native English speakers found that the literacy levels of immigrant students impacted their retention, progress, and GPA, as indicators of academic success (Roessingh and Douglas 2012). Interestingly, while immigrant students had higher graduation rates (78% for the younger arrivals and 80% for the older arrivals) than native-born students (72%), their GPAs were lower than those of native students, and they took more semesters to graduate because they had to repeat courses attempted unsuccessfully. Roessingh and Douglas (2012) suggest that the demands of university studies require high proficient language reading, writing, and speaking skills, applied when writing tests, essays, doing library and internet research search, participating in group activities, and doing presentations, which may be well beyond the language skills of some immigrant students.

In summary, official language skills have an impact on many different aspects of newcomers' settlement and integration outcomes. This brief review of the literature shows that official

language skills influence labour market, civic participation, health, and educational outcomes and impact immigrants' sense of belonging to the host country. These diverse outcomes are measured with a number of indicators. (Examples of some are identified in the following table.). Overall, knowing the official language(s) enables newcomers to fully participate in the host society by enhancing their ability to obtain appropriate employment, to enroll and participate in school, to access health care and other social services, to acquire information about their basic needs, including housing, and also to feel like a member of their new community. Thus, for effective integration to take place, newcomers with limited and no-official language skills would benefit from language training, linguistic support, and opportunities to interact with Canadians.

#### **2.2.1** Table of Language Proficiency Indicators and Outcomes

LANGUAGE OUTCOMES	DESCRIPTION	EXAMPLES OF INDICATORS
Labour Market	Relationship between official language proficiency and labour market outcomes.	<ul> <li>Earnings (weekly, monthly, annual)</li> <li>Type of employment (whether or not the job is a high-skill job; whether or not the job is in the field intended by the immigrant; whether or not the job is in the same field as the job held before immigrating; whether or not the job is related to the immigrant's field of training or education; the hourly wage associated with the job)</li> <li>Probability of being employed (employment variable includes: individuals who are in the labour force and employed and those who are in the labor force and not employed but are actively seeking a job)</li> <li>However, labour market outcomes are also affected by level of education, pre-immigration experience, duration of life in Canada, gender, etc.</li> </ul>
Civic Participation	Relationships between official language proficiency and the level and type of civic participation within the immigrant population.	<ul> <li>Participation in various types of organizations and groups</li> <li>Voting (federal, provincial and municipal elections)</li> <li>Volunteering in official language speaking organization</li> </ul>
Health	Relationship between official language proficiency and health.	<ul> <li>Self-reported health</li> <li>Access to health care services</li> <li>Effects on encounter with health care system and health care providers</li> </ul>

		<ul> <li>Physical and mental health outcomes</li> <li>Service utilization and cost</li> <li>Ethical standards</li> </ul>
Education	Relationship between official language proficiency and educational achievements.	<ul> <li>Grade point average (GPA)</li> <li>Meeting curriculum targets</li> <li>Social, emotional, and behavioural adaptation to educational institutions</li> <li>Ability to navigate education system (e.g., access support services, adjust to new learning style and expectations from teachers)</li> </ul>
Emotions	Participants' reflection on their feelings or emotional state in relation to settlement, language learning, language use, and sense of belonging in their community.	<ul> <li>Feelings related to use of language (e.g., feeling embarrassed or self-conscious when speaking)</li> <li>Sense of belonging to family, ethnic, or cultural group; town, city or municipality; province; to Canada and to North America (sense of belonging can be considered as an attitudinal measure)</li> </ul>
Information about Official Language	Information about official language knowledge and program.	<ul> <li>Knowledge of language before coming to Canada</li> <li>Self-assessed level of official language knowledge</li> <li>Enrollment in a language program</li> <li>Name of program, name of school</li> <li>Opinion of the language program</li> </ul>
Reasons for Learning Official Language	Reasons for learning official language.	<ul> <li>Self-identified reasons for learning official language (e.g., communicate with friends or coworkers, meet other people who speak the language, enter university or college in Canada, function comfortably in daily situations such as shopping, banking, etc.)</li> <li>Expectations about language learning</li> </ul>
Assessment of Official Language Knowledge	Assessment of language proficiency.	<ul> <li>Formal: Canadian Language Benchmark (CLB),         Test of English as a Foreign Language (TOEFL),         etc.</li> <li>Informal: observations, unstructured         interviews, impromptu presentations,         conversations</li> </ul>

Barriers to Language Learning	Barriers to access language programs and learn language.	<ul> <li>Self-identified barriers to access language program (e.g., time availability, money, childcare, transportation)</li> <li>Self-identified barriers to learning language (e.g., lack of opportunities to speak, little interaction with native speakers, etc.)</li> </ul>
Opportunities for Interaction	Contexts in which official language is used.	<ul> <li>Frequency of official language use</li> <li>People communicate with in official language (family, friends, employer, etc.)</li> <li>Places where official language is used (shopping, school, doctor's office, work, home, etc.)</li> </ul>
Knowledge and Use of Other Languages	Knowledge and use of unofficial languages.	<ul> <li>Mother tongue, knowledge of other languages</li> <li>Frequency of other language use</li> <li>Place where other language is used (home, work, community events, etc.)</li> </ul>
Housing	Relationship between language proficiency and housing outcomes.	<ul> <li>Did language proficiency affect ability to access housing (e.g., when searching for housing)</li> <li>Did language proficiency affect ability to understand housing-related information (e.g., tenant/landlord rights and responsibilities).</li> </ul>
Discrimination	Unjust treatment due to language proficiency.	<ul> <li>Self-reported perception of discrimination due to language proficiency (e.g., when searching for employment, housing etc.)</li> </ul>

## 2.3 Financial Literacy Report

The recognition of the importance of financial literacy, which refers to a person's ability to understand and use personal finance-related information, has increased as the result of the growing complexity of financial markets, products, and services. In the current financial environment, individuals require greater financial knowledge and skills in order to make well-informed decisions when managing their personal finances. To promote financial literacy and inclusion, international governments and organizations have promoted the creation of financial literacy interventions and education programs to improve individuals' financial well-being through development of relevant knowledge and skills.

The Organisation for Economic Co-Operation and Development (OECD) has been a leading organization working on developing financial inclusion through education programs and interventions since 2003. The OECD has published a number of research studies on the state of financial literacy around the world, identified best practices, proposed policy guidance, and developed a financial literacy measurement toolkit (Atkinson and Messy 2013; Atkinson and Messy 2015; OECD 2016; OECD 2017).

The Government of Canada has also made financial literacy a priority. In 2014, the government established the National Steering Committee on Financial Literacy to undertake initiatives, conduct research, and develop financial programs and tools. The work of the Committee led to the creation of the National Strategy for Financial Literacy – Count me in, Canada. The Strategy aims to "mobilize and engage public, private, and non-profit sectors to strengthen the financial literacy of Canadians and empower them to achieve the following goals: manage money and debt wisely; plan and save for the future; and prevent and protect against fraud and financial abuse" (Financial Consumer Agency of Canada 2019, p. 7).

The increased interest in financial literacy around the world has initiated more research on the topic and resulted in the development of financial literacy measurements and indicators. For example, Lusardi and Mitchell (2007) developed a set of financial literacy and planning questions that measure basic and sophisticated financial literacy. Basic literacy questions measure simple concepts, such as numeracy, compound interest, inflation, and time value of money, which is the idea that money that is available at the present time is worth more than the same amount in the future. Sophisticated financial literacy questions seek to measure more advanced financial knowledge, such as the function of the stock market, knowledge of mutual funds, and the relationship between prices and interest rates. Lusardi and Mitchell (2007) combined basic and sophisticated financial literacy questions into a financial literacy index that they used to assess its impact on retirement planning. Their analysis shows that financial literacy is a key determinant of retirement planning; respondents with higher financial literacy knowledge were also more likely to make plans for retirement. Not surprisingly, they also found that respondents who were exposed to economics in school or who attended financial education programs had higher financial literacy knowledge than respondents who did not have previous financial training. Overall, fewer than half (47%) of respondents could correctly

answer all five basic financial literacy questions. Less educated, younger people and women exhibited lower levels of financial knowledge than more educated, older, and male respondents.

The OECD created the OECD/INFE Financial Literacy and Financial Inclusion Measurement Toolkit that measures three components of financial literacy: financial knowledge, financial behaviour, and financial attitudes (OECD 2016). Financial knowledge measures consist of seven questions designed to test different aspects of knowledge that are widely considered to be useful to individuals when making financial decisions. These questions assess items such as, for example, whether respondents can correctly calculate interest on savings, or whether they would know what would happen to the purchasing power of money if inflation stayed at the same rate for one year. Financial behaviour questions explore the extent to which people are behaving in financially literate ways. For instance, they ask respondents about their practices regarding budgeting, thinking before making a purchase, paying bills on time, and saving and borrowing to make ends meet. Finally, financial attitude measures include three questions designed to capture people's long-term attitudes towards money and planning for the future. A list of financial literacy questions and indicators can be found in the OECD/INFE International Survey of Adult Financial Literacy Competencies (OECD 2106a; listed in the Appendix).

In Canada, financial literacy has been measured with the Canadian Financial Capability Survey (CFCS 2014), which is a national survey of consumers that is conducted by Statistics Canada. The survey uses several indicators of financial well-being to measure Canadians' self-reported financial knowledge, abilities and behaviour (Financial Consumer Agency of Canada 2015). The survey questions are divided into two groups: managing money and debt, and planning for the future. The results vary across different variables, including demographic groups (e.g., in a couple relationship; not in a couple relationship; Aboriginal, low-income; newcomer; immigrant), age groups, education levels, income quintiles, and regions. A detailed description can be found in Financial Consumer Agency of Canada (2015). (Also, a detailed description of other financial literacy measures and indicators can be found in the Excel table created for IRCOM to accompany these reviews.)

Much of the attention on financial literacy training has been motivated by international survey findings that suggest that regardless of significant variations in financial literacy competencies across countries and economies, the overall levels of financial literacy in adult populations are low (OECD 2016). For instance, the OECD conducted an international survey of financial literacy measuring financial knowledge, behaviour, and attitudes of 30 countries and economies, including 17 OECD countries. The average score across all participating countries was just 13.2 out of a possible 21 (a combination of a maximum of 7 for knowledge, 9 for behaviour, and 5 for attitudes). Similarly, the survey on adult financial literacy in G20 countries showed that there is considerable scope for improvement because "on average across G20 countries, fewer than half of adults (48%) could answer 70% of the financial knowledge questions correctly (the minimum target score)" (OECD 2017, p. 1).

Financial literacy is related to financial well-being. For example, financially illiterate adults are less likely to plan for retirement (Lusardi and Mitchell 2007), and people who cannot correctly calculate interest rates tend to borrow more, save less money, and accumulate less wealth (Stango and Zinman 2007). Low financial literacy is also associated with financial exclusion. According to the OECD, 2.3 billion working-age adults worldwide are financially excluded, meaning that they are not able to access and use financial services (Atkinson and Messy 2013). In countries in the Global South, the majority of the population is financially excluded and unable to access financial services due to factors such as an undeveloped financial market sector, living in a rural area without financial institutions, or not having technology to access financial services. In the Global North, certain groups, like immigrants and refugees, are more likely to experience financial exclusion as they try to adapt to the economic and financial systems in host countries. In their early years, newcomers have to make important financial decisions while they are learning to navigate complex financial institutions. As a result of these early obstacles, many immigrants experience financial hardship. For example, in the United States immigrants lag behind native-born individuals in financial participation, meaning that they are more likely to be unbanked, less likely to have savings accounts, and less likely to be home or stock owners (Barcellos et al. 2016).

It is important to remember that newcomers come from diverse social, cultural, and economic backgrounds and have varying financial needs. In Canada, for instance, many immigrants tend to be highly educated and skilled. However, they still often experience financial instability in their early years because they are not able to find employment that corresponds with or recognizes their education and experience. Refugees are at the greatest risk of financial instability and exclusion due to a unique set of barriers and constraints, including debts from transportation loans, lack of identification documents, and previous trauma (Atkinson and Messy 2015; Barcellos et al. 2016). The OECD identified several barriers that are likely to hinder access and use of formal financial services amongst immigrants and refugees (Atkinson and Messy 2015). These barriers include: underdeveloped financial services industry and financial consumer protection in the home or host country, cultural and social attitudes, trust and confidence, and lack of knowledge, skills, and access to services, including education.

Underdeveloped financial services industry and financial consumer protection refers to barriers caused by limited financial service infrastructure or appropriate products. For instance, some immigrants and refugees do not have experience dealing with financial institutions because they were not available or easily accessible in their home countries. In host countries, they may not be able to access services because of their legal status or lack of identification documents, or they may not be able to obtain appropriate financial services that allow them to send low-cost remittances (the money they send to their families in home countries). Cultural and social attitudes can create additional barriers because some immigrants and refugees mistrust financial institutions due to previous negative experiences. Undocumented immigrants may be concerned that they will be punished or deported once they identify themselves to financial institutions. Limited language skills and low levels of financial literacy also create obstacles as immigrants and refugees struggle to understand the host language and the terms used in

financial services. Without understanding or adapting to the economic and financial systems in host countries, immigrants and refugees risk becoming vulnerable to poverty and financial exclusion (OECD 2016). Therefore, due to their vulnerable position and the numerous obstacles they experience, immigrants, and especially refugees, need access to financial services and education in order to develop knowledge and skills necessary "to make suitable financial decisions and to actively participate in economic and financial activities in their host countries" (OECD 2016, p. 1).

Although there are relatively few evaluations of financial education programs for immigrants and refugees, there is some evidence that these interventions can improve their financial knowledge and impact their financial behaviour and well-being. For instance, in a study conducted with first and second-generation immigrants in the United States, Barcellos et al. (2016) found that compared to native-born individuals, immigrants and their children have lower levels of financial knowledge. They are also more likely to lag in financial participation, meaning that they do not have bank accounts, and also less likely to own assets like housing and stocks. Subsequently, Barcellos et al. developed new financial education material for U.S. immigrants and their children, including first-, second-, and third-generation Americans (i.e., those with at least one grandparent born abroad) and evaluated its effectiveness and impacts on their financial knowledge and behaviour.

The results showed that a one-time exposure to the educational intervention was effective in increasing financial knowledge in the short term. However, a follow-up survey showed that most of these effects faded after six months. The intervention also had a very limited effect on hypothetical and intended behaviour change, including the likelihood to open a retirement account, or to save or invest money. Overall, these results indicate that financial education can help participants gain important financial information and enhance their financial knowledge. Yet, it appears that education alone has a limited impact on financial behaviour. Authors suggest that differences in financial behaviour between immigrants and native-born may result from lower levels of trust in host-country financial institutions among immigrants, language barriers, and lower levels of financial knowledge among immigrants.

This finding is consistent with results from recently published work on financial literacy training for migrant populations. Doi et al. (2014) conducted an experimental study on the effects of financial education training on financial knowledge and practices of overseas migrant workers and their families in Indonesia. The training, which focused on financial planning and management, savings, debt management, sending and receiving remittances, and understanding migrant insurance, was offered to either the migrants, the families of migrants, or both the migrant and their family. The results showed that training both migrants and their families who received remittances resulted in increased awareness and knowledge about money management and saving. For example, families who received training were more likely to keep financial records, to accumulate more savings, and to rely less on loans than families who did not receive financial education.

Another study, which tested the impact of a financial education workshop on financial decisionmaking of Indian migrants in Qatar and their wives in India, found that financial education affected self-reported financial practices of the migrants' wives, but not the migrants themselves. However, financial training of both spouses contributed to the likelihood that they would make joint financial decisions (Seshan and Yang 2014). Also, while there were no treatment effects on financial outcomes (savings and remittances) in the full sample, the results showed impacts in a sub-sample of individuals with low baseline savings. This suggests that financial education is most beneficial to those with low knowledge and limited experience. Similar conclusions can be made from an experimental study conducted in New Zealand and Australia with migrants from the Pacific Islands, East Asia, and Sri Lanka (Gibson et al. 2014). The training on different methods and costs of sending money to their home countries was provided to these three migrant groups, who had differing levels of education, financial knowledge, and remitting practices. The results revealed that training increased financial knowledge among migrants from the Pacific Islands, who had a relatively low baseline financial knowledge compared to migrants from East Asia and Sri Lanka, who had higher levels of knowledge. The increased financial knowledge influenced migrants from the Pacific Islands and East Asia to use their knowledge when making decisions about which methods to use to send money back home (2014). However, while financial literacy training enhanced financial knowledge, there were no significant changes in remitting behaviour, such as frequency or remitted amount.

The findings of these studies suggest that financial literacy education is beneficial in providing individuals and families with knowledge and skills they need to make important financial decisions. However, education alone is not sufficient to ensure financial inclusion and change financial behaviours of vulnerable groups like immigrants and refugees. As recognized by the OECD, these groups require additional support in order to adapt to financial and economic systems in host countries. Low financial literacy is just one factor that prevents individuals from accessing financial services and making well-informed financial decisions. Other barriers include lack of appropriate financial services that allow immigrants to send money to their host countries at low-costs, cultural beliefs and attitudes toward financial institutions, as well as educational and linguistic barriers that contribute to misunderstandings of financial services, products such as bank accounts, and the benefits of saving and investing.

To address these complex barriers to financial inclusion, Prosper Canada suggests that appropriate supports should include "a broader spectrum of services aimed at building the financial well-being of newcomers" (Prosper Canada Centre for Financial Literacy 2015, p. 2). These supports, including the provision of essential healthcare, general education and guidance, as well as financial education, can help individuals and families learn where to turn for help and empower them to independently develop plans to achieve key life goals, including homeownership, getting an education, starting a business, and planning for retirement. However, a brief review of relevant literature suggests that there is a lack of comprehensive studies that evaluate the specific financial needs of immigrants and refugees, and a lack of evaluation studies on the impacts of financial education on their financial knowledge,

behaviours, and long-term integration. The majority of literature identified as part of this review primarily focuses, instead, on temporary migrants and their remitting practices. Consequently, the identified outcomes and indicators of financial education mainly relate to the general population and do not include specific outcomes that financial education could have on the newcomer population.

## 2.3.1 Table of Financial Literacy Indicators and Outcomes

DESCRIPTION	EXAMPLES OF INDICATORS
Financial knowledge measures consist of questions designed to test different aspects of knowledge that are widely considered to be useful to individuals when making financial decisions.	Financial knowledge is measured with questions on topics like: knowledge of bank accounts, saving and investing, interest rates, inflation, etc.  • For example: Imagine that five <brothers> are given a gift of &lt;\$&gt;1,000 in total. If the <brothers> have to share the money equally how much does each get?  • Now imagine that the <brothers> have to wait for one year to get their share of the \$1,000 and inflation stays at <x>%. In one year's time, how much will they get?  Other sample questions can be found in: OECD (2016)</x></brothers></brothers></brothers>
Financial behaviour questions explore the extent to which people are behaving in financially literate ways.	Financial behaviour questions include questions on financial behaviour such as controlling spending, paying bills on time, engaging in financial planning, saving for the future and using a budget.  **Keeping track of money**  Self-assessment of how well the respondent keeps track of money**  **Making ends meet**  Self-assessment of how well the respondent makes ends meet**  **Keeping up with bills and payments**  Does the respondent regularly keep up with bills and financial commitments?*  Behind in one or more bills**  Has the respondent been behind in one or more bills for two consecutive months over the last 12 months?**  **Household budget**  Does the respondent have a household budget?**  How often does individual stay within budget?
	Financial knowledge measures consist of questions designed to test different aspects of knowledge that are widely considered to be useful to individuals when making financial decisions.  Financial behaviour questions explore the extent to which people are behaving in

## Checking account balances

 How often does respondent check account balance?

## Type of debt

- What type of debt or liabilities does the respondent currently have?
- How much debt
- What is the estimated total value of debt and liabilities?

#### Saving for children's education

- Has the respondent saved to support the cost of their children's post-secondary education?
- Is the respondent using a Registered Education Savings Plan (RESP)?

## Retirement income and planning

- Does respondent have a good idea of how much money is needed to maintain a desired standard of living in retirement?
- How confident is the respondent that household income at the time of retirement will be sufficient for a desired standard of living?
- Is the respondent planning for retirement either on their own or through an employee pension plan?
- What sources of income are included in the respondent's retirement plan?
- What will be the primary source of income in retirement?

Source: Canadian Financial Capability Survey (CFCS 2014)

## 2.4 After-School Youth Programs Report

Newcomer youth face unique emotional, social, cultural, linguistic, educational, economic, and other challenges that may negatively impact their integration experiences. Despite these obstacles there are several individual and environmental factors that promote resilience in newcomer youth, including individual traits, family integrity, school environment, and community support (Rossiter et al. 2015). This brief review focuses on the community support aspect and explores the impact of after-school community programs on youth's academic, psychological, and behavioural outcomes. First, the review discusses common challenges experienced by newcomer youth and describes outcomes of participation in the after-school programs. The review concludes by outlining how these outcomes have been measured.

Newcomer youth face many obstacles on their path to integration and adaptation to their new country. Initially, many newcomer youth experience a culture shock and struggle to develop a positive cultural identity because of conflicting cultural norms, practices, and expectations at home and in the host community (Hurlock et al 2004; Este and Ngo 2011). These challenges often impact their ability to develop a sense of belonging and establish healthy relationships with their family, peers, teachers, and community members. For instance, negotiating between two cultures can create intergenerational conflicts because young people often feel torn between their desire to fit in with their peers and to meet the expectations of their parents (Rossiter et al. 2015).

Adapting to a new culture is especially challenging for young people who come to Canada with traumatizing pre-immigration experiences. Refugees and youth from countries in the Global South often have physical and mental health issues that result from malnutrition, high exposure to communicable diseases, cultural practices related to sexual and reproductive health, as well as experiences of war and violence. Negative resettlement experiences may further exacerbate pre-immigration traumas and undermine youth's integration (Rossier et al. 2015). For example, visible minority youth may be subjected to prejudices and stereotypes perpetuated by their peers, teachers and the broader society. Pervasive racism and discrimination can affect their educational and employment opportunities, which further marginalizes, isolates, and prevents them from developing their full potential and adapting to their new community.

Newcomer youth and their parents also need to acculturate to a new school environment where they are expected to adopt new customs and practices, and understand their rights and responsibilities. Yet, because of gaps in formal education, language difficulties, cultural differences, as well as other socioeconomic issues, many newcomer students feel disconnected from their teachers and peers and experience academic difficulties (Este and Ngo 2011). In addition to attending school, newcomer youth often work to support themselves or to supplement their family's income. While employment can give them opportunities to improve their language skills, expand social networks, and develop a sense of pride and self-sufficiency, it can also create additional stress, compromise their academic achievements, and put them at greater risk of dropping out of school (Rossiter and Rossiter 2009a).

Unique linguistic and sociocultural challenges can undermine newcomer youths' educational achievements and limit their future employment prospects. A lack of education and employment opportunities may also put newcomer youth at greater risk of becoming involved in criminal activities, gangs, substance use, and sex work (Ngo et al. 2013; Rossiter and Rossiter 2009b). In fact, in their study about gang-involved immigrant youth in Alberta, Ngo et al. (2013) argue that:

Gang-involved youth had experienced multiple, severe and prolonged personal and interpersonal challenges in all facets of their lives and that gradual disintegration of their relationships with family, school and community had resulted in the unravelling of self-concept, ethnic identity, sense of belonging and sense of citizenship and progressively propelled them towards membership in high-risk social cliques and criminal gangs. (p. 63)

There are, however, a number of protective factors that can prevent criminal involvement of immigrant youth, including the existence of a strong support network, community engagement, and access to programs and services (Este and Ngo 2011; Hurlock et al. 2004; Ngo et al. 2013). Since the early 1990s policymakers in Western countries have been promoting after-school programs as one way to provide disadvantaged youth with meaningful opportunities that promote their positive growth and development (Lauer et al. 2006). After-school programs offer a wide range of activities, including participation in sports and arts activities, community engagement, and assistance with homework, that can have many positive outcomes. Research studies show that involvement in community programs provides youth with opportunities for socialization and access to enriching experiences that promote development of academic and social skills and reduce anti-social behaviour (Durlak et al. 2010; Fredricks and Simpkins 2012; Gouin 2016; Hall et al. 2015; Hurlock et al. 2004; Lauer et al. 2006).

A meta-analysis of 69 different youth after-school programs in the United States revealed that compared to controls, "participants demonstrated significant increases in their self-perceptions and bonding to school, positive social behaviors, school grades and levels of academic achievement, as well as significant reductions in problem behaviors" (Durlak et al. 2015, p. 294). Similar observations were made in a comprehensive evaluation of the RBC Foundation after-school programs (Mishna and Daciuk 2013). Analysis of the year-end evaluation reports and interviews with students, parents, and staff revealed that these after-school programs had positive academic, recreational, and social outcomes. In particular, students' academic performance, literacy and language skills, and academic motivation/confidence increased as a result of the program. These outcomes were measured by examining students' reading and writing skills, vocabulary development, reading enjoyment, academic confidence, and discipline/work ethic. The recreational component of the program contributed to the development of teamwork and cooperation between peers and led to healthier lifestyle choices, such as healthy eating habits. Finally, the most prominent social outcomes were

socialization and pro-social behaviours, cooperation between peers, and increase in self-esteem.

Studies that examined the impact of after-school programs on immigrant and refugee youth found that participation in these programs contributes to youth's social and emotional development, academic outcomes, and pro-social behaviour (Este and Ngo 2011; Hall et al. 2015; Ngo et al. 2013; Rossiter et al. 2015; Wright et al. 2010). For example, immigrant and refugee youth interviewed in Rossiter et al.'s (2015) study explained that participation in after-school community programs contributed to development of their self-esteem and sense of belonging. Similarly, a study examining the influences of community-based after-school program for Latino immigrant youth in the United States found that the programming contributed to youth's sense of self-worth and development of their ethnic identity (Riggs et al. 2010). Importantly, this study also revealed a connection between regular attendance and positive youth outcomes. In particular, Latino youth who participated in the program more frequently reported higher levels of self-worth. However, studies show that youth who are in the greatest need of services and programs often experience barriers to accessing them, such as those associated with language and transportation (Hurlock et al. 2004; Mishna and Daciuk 2013).

A two-year study in six major metropolitan centers in the United States that followed economically disadvantaged, minority youth whose families were recent immigrants found that their regular participation in high-quality afterschool programs resulted in significant academic gains and contributed to reductions in behaviour problems (Vandell et al. 2007). Specifically, compared to youth who were unsupervised during after-school hours, participants in the program had significant gains in standardized test scores and work habits as measured by teachers' reports. Opportunities for additional learning can be crucially important for the academic success of students who require additional assistance due to language barriers or other educational challenges. Furthermore, additional support can be critical for the future well-being of newcomer youth because academic achievements influence their employment opportunities and economic well-being. Studies also show that youth who experience academic challenges are at a greater risk of victimization and involvement in crime (Rossiter and Rossiter 2009a).

Therefore, when tailored to unique needs of young people, community-based after-school programs may contribute to many positive outcomes (Lee and Hawkins 2008). It is also important that programs are culturally sensitive and provide a safe environment where youth feel welcome. The Happi Camp, a month-long summer camp for Syrian refugee children and youth offered in summer 2016 and 2017 in Toronto and London, Ontario, is an example of a community program that successfully tailored its activities to specific needs of its participants (El-Baba et al. 2017). The camp's goal was to promote integration of refugees into Canadian communities, help them with literacy and English language skills, and address their emotional and mental health issues. The program included daily literacy and language sessions, but also physical activities, creative arts, and theatre that focused on empowering and building youths'

self-esteem in order to help them overcome their physical and mental health issues. The feedback from participants, their families, and staff was overwhelmingly positive because they strongly felt that the program contributed to their academic, social, and emotional growth and development. The success of Happi Camp demonstrates the importance of delivering activities that target issues of the group being served.

After-school programs' goals, practices, and activities vary greatly, and thus there is variation in outcomes. A review of the literature shows that these outcomes commonly fall within four broad domains: educational achievements and cognitive attainment; health and safety; social and emotional development; and self-sufficiency (Hair et al. 2001). Educational achievements and cognitive attainment measure academic outcomes, development of education-related cognitive skills, and motivation to learn. Academic achievements may be measured by years of schooling completed, degrees or credentials earned, honours or awards received, improved grades, homework completion, and also school retention, such as grade repetition or being behind in a grade relative to one's age (Hair et al. 2001; Mishna and Daciuk 2013). Cognitive skills include outcomes such as the development of language and literacy skills, which can be measured by examining reading and writing skills and vocabulary development. Other cognitive skills may include science and math skills, technology, data analysis and research skills, as well as oral communication skills. Many after-school programs aspire to influence young people's motivation to learn and academic success. Motivation outcomes may measure youth's confidence in their academic capabilities (YouthREX, Academic Self-Concept Scale), motivation to learn science (YouthREX, Science Motivation Questionnaire), and school engagement, measured by school attendance.

Good physical and mental health is important for youths' physical, social, and intellectual functioning (Bronte-Tinkew et al. 2006). Many after-school programs seek to educate and engage young people in activities that promote good physical and mental health and reduce risky behaviours that endanger their health and safety. For instance, positive health outcomes may be promoted through recreational activities, education on the benefits of a healthy lifestyle, and information on healthcare resources. Measures of physical health may include youths' physical condition and health-related behaviours, such as healthy weight and the absence of sexually transmitted infections, but also behaviours like adequate sleep, healthy diet, and regular doctor's visits. Mental health, which is key to healthy development and growth, may be measured by the presence of depression, anxiety, anorexia and bulimia, as well as suicidal thoughts and excessive stress. Finally, many after-school programs focus on reducing risky behaviours such as alcohol and drug use, unsafe sexual practices, or violence and gang membership. Impact of these programs may be measured by the observed decrease in these types of risky behaviours.

The social and emotional development domain encompasses a wide range of outcomes which can categorized into social and community relationships and emotional and personal development (Hair et al. 2001). Social and community relationships includes young people's relationships with their family, peers, teachers, and community members. Many programs

aspire to promote socialization and development of positive relationships because they are critical for development of youths' social identity and sense of belonging. Other outcomes that fall within the social and community domain include civic engagement, including participation in community organizations and activities, voting, volunteering, as well as cultural sensitivity and acceptance of diversity. Emotional and personal development refers to self-development and awareness of one's behaviours, emotions, and feelings. Some outcomes include self-esteem, self-expression, trust, emotional coping skills, spirituality, motivation to do well, sense of identity, initiative, and cooperation.

Finally, self-sufficiency is the ability to independently support oneself and any dependents financially (Bronte-Tinkew et al. 2006). Many after-school programs focus on developing employability skills and knowledge, and include activities such as resume/cover letter writing, assistance with interview preparation and job searching, and providing volunteer/job placements. Indicators of self-sufficiently may include employment status, hours worked, and work ethic.

In conclusion, the evidence suggests that after-school programs may provide disadvantaged youth with enriching experiences that help them develop their academic, social, and emotional skills and contribute to their health and overall well-being. The needs and experiences of immigrant and refugee youth are unique as they adapt to their new life. Research studies suggest that to successfully overcome barriers newcomer youth benefit from a strong support network and access to community-based services and programs (Este and Ngo 2011; Rossiter et al. 2015). Participation in meaningful after-school activities may have a wide range of positive outcomes. (Detailed information on identified outcomes and ways to measure them can be found in the Excel table created for IRCOM to accompany this review).

#### **2.4.1** Table of After-School Youth Programs Indicators and Outcomes

AFTER- SCHOOL YOUTH PROGRAMS OUTCOMES	DESCRIPTION	EXAMPLES OF INDICATORS
Social and Community Relationships	Includes community engagement and social relationships with parents, peers, teachers, and other adults in the community. These relationships are key indicators of youths' health and well-being.	<ul> <li>Civil engagement (e.g., participates in one or more school or community organizations; volunteering; votes; involved in community service activities; participates in social activities such as sports, clubs)</li> <li>Leadership (e.g., leader in sports organizations; leader in community organizations; leader in church organizations)</li> </ul>

		<ul> <li>Positive parent/child relationship (e.g., closeness to mother/father; positive perception of mother/father)</li> <li>Positive relationships with other adults (e.g., feeling cared by other adults around you, such as teachers)</li> <li>Positive peer relationships (e.g., having one or more close friends)</li> </ul>
Educational Achievement and Cognitive Development	This domain includes educational achievements and cognitive development. Educational achievements include educational outcomes and experiences. Cognitive development refers to how children and youth perceive, think, and gain understanding of their world.	<ul> <li>Educational attainment (e.g., years of formal school completed; credentials/degrees; GPA)</li> <li>Repetition (e.g., grade repetition/behind age in grade)</li> <li>Cognitive development</li> <li>Basic cognitive skills (e.g., reading/literacy, writing, and mathematic skills (measured by test/assessment, score/grades))</li> <li>Higher order thinking skills (e.g., good-problem solving skills; good study skills; employs good study habits; does homework regularly)</li> <li>Data collection and analysis skills</li> <li>Oral communication skills</li> <li>Language skills (e.g., English proficiency (test/assessment scores/grades); foreign language fluency (measured by test/assessment, score/grades))</li> <li>Technology skills</li> <li>Arts, dance, music</li> <li>Motivation/approach to Learning (e.g., personally motivated to achieve academically)</li> </ul>
Health and Safety	Includes markers of risky behaviour, and physical and mental health.	<ul> <li>Prugs/alcohol (e.g., does not drink at all or excessively; does not use illegal substances)</li> <li>Sexual behaviour (e.g., responsible sexual behaviour)</li> <li>Violence (e.g., not a gang member; does not get involved in physical fights or fights with weapons)</li> <li>Accidents and injuries (e.g., motor vehicle-related injuries; recreational injuries; other unintentional injuries at home or at school (e.g., burns, falls); injury due to a physical fight; injury due to family violence)</li> </ul>

		<ul> <li>Good safety habits (e.g., use a seat belt or helmet; does not drink and drive or ride with somebody who has been drinking; does not drive recklessly)</li> <li>Physical health</li> <li>Good health and health habits (e.g., health status; adequate exercise; adequate sleep; healthy diet; does not smoke; dental hygiene; recent health care exam (not for sickness or injury); not obese)</li> <li>Mental health</li> <li>Good mental health (e.g., not depressed; not anxious; optimistic; not anorexic; not bulimic; not suicidal)</li> </ul>
Self-Sufficiency	Self-sufficiency refers to the ability to support oneself and any dependents financially.	<ul> <li>Employment (e.g., employed/unemployed; hours of work)</li> <li>Work ethic (e.g., promptness; attendance)</li> <li>Family (e.g., responsible childbearing – does not have unwanted or unintended children; regular interactions with children; regular visits for non-resident children)</li> <li>Responsible management of finances (e.g., saving behaviour; debt)</li> </ul>

# 2.5 Childcare and Early Childhood Education Report

Previous traumatic experiences, poverty, language barriers, and other stressors associated with resettlement may undermine immigrant and refugee children's future prospects in a new land. Early Childhood Education (ECE) programs may mitigate these challenges and positively impact immigrant and refugee children's social, emotional, and cognitive development (Morland et al. 2016; Park et al. 2018). ECE programs provide opportunities for socialization and participation in structured learning activities that contribute to immigrant and refugee children's adaptation to new cultural and learning settings and practices, foster official language acquisition, and promote academic skills development.

Importantly, early learning experiences offered by quality ECE programs can reduce future academic and occupational gaps between children of immigrant and native-born parents by boosting immigrant children's school readiness skills (Crosnoe 2013; Gormley 2008; Karoly and Gonzalez 2011; Magnuson and Waldfogel 2005; Voltruba-Drzal et al. 2015). Participation in ECE programs can also benefit entire families by providing them with opportunities for social networking with ECE educators and other families (Vesely et al. 2013). However, before describing the positive outcomes of participation in more detail, this report discusses ECE enrollment rates among immigrant and refugee children and explains the main obstacles families face in accessing these programs.

According to U.S.-based studies, immigrant and refugee children are less likely than children of native-born parents to participate in ECE programs (Gelatt et al. 2014; Greenberg and Kahn 2011; Karoly and Gonzalez 2011; Matthews and Ewen 2006; Morland et al. 2016). For instance, recent data from the Urban Institute's National Survey of America's Families (NSAF) reveal that children of immigrants are less likely than children of U.S.-born parents to be enrolled in every type of non-parental care, including centre-based care and child care arrangements with relatives or babysitters (Matthews and Ewen 2006). The majority of immigrant children under age three are in parental care or do not have a regular care arrangement (60%, compared to 40% of children of U.S.-born parents). Only 5% of immigrant children under age three are in centre-based care compared to 15% of children with native-born parents. Even when taking into account parents' employment status, immigrant children under age three with working parents are still half as likely to be in centre-based care than children of native-born working parents (11% and 23%, respectively). Parental care continues to be the primary source of care for 43% of children of immigrants ages three to five, compared to 29% of children of U.S.-born citizens. However, the enrollment rates in centre-based care for all children in this age group, including immigrant and U.S.-born, increases (32% compared to 39%). Specifically, centre-based childcare is the most common arrangement for all children ages three to five among working families, with immigrant children only slightly less likely to be enrolled than children of U.S.born parents (34% versus 39%). These findings raise questions about why centre-based care is infrequent for immigrant children under age three, regardless of their parents' work status. Although the studies reviewed do not provide any explanations, possible reasons include barriers to access, such as limited awareness of child care options and the high cost of care.

Also, children ages three to five may have higher enrollment rates because they qualify for subsidized ECE programs, like Head Start.

Other studies clarify that gaps in enrollment rates between immigrant and native-born children can be explained by demographic and socioeconomic factors rather than immigration status. For example, poverty, low parental education, and employment status explain the majority of the immigrant/native-born enrollment gap (Karoly and Gonzalez 2011; Greenberg and Kahn 2011). Immigrant and refugee families experience additional obstacles including language barriers, legal status, and lack of awareness and knowledge of ECE systems and programs (Greenberg and Kahn 2011; Karoly and Gonzalez 2011; Morland et al. 2016; Voltruba-Drzal et al. 2015). Limited official language proficiency affects parents' ability to find and understand information about ECE programs. Even when parents wish to enroll their children, the nature of their employment may limit childcare options. Recent immigrants are more likely to be employed in low-wage occupations with irregular and non-traditional, night, and weekend shifts, which makes accessing ECE programs more difficult (Matthews and Ewen 2006). Undocumented parents may not be able to access ECE programs because they often work outside the formal labour market and lack formal verification of employment. Moreover, they may fear they will be deported once they access formal childcare services. Additionally, some immigrant parents may prefer to care for their children at home to preserve their culture and language.

While immigrant and refugee families experience many barriers that prevent them from obtaining formal childcare services, research studies agree that socioeconomic factors represent the largest barrier to ECE access. For example, using the U.S. 2005 National Household Education Survey (NHES), Greenberg and Kahn (2011) examined the extent to which immigration status (proxies used to measure immigrant status were place of birth and language), compared to socioeconomic factors, impacts ECE program enrollment rates among children in the United States. Consistent with other study findings (Crosnoe 2007; Magnuson et al. 2006), Greenberg and Kahn (2011) found that socioeconomic factors like mother's marital status, employment, and family income were more important predictors of children's ECE enrollment than immigration status. In particular, families with higher income and employed mothers were more likely to use formal childcare, regardless of their immigration status.

To increase ECE participation among immigrant and refugee children, their unique needs associated with migration and resettlement, as well as wider socioeconomic inequalities, must be addressed. These efforts may require collaboration between different sectors and agencies serving immigrant and refugee populations. Morland et al. (2016) found that collaboration between Head Start and refugee resettlement services was a good strategy to increase the enrollment of newly arrived refugee children in Early Head Start and Head Start (EHS/HS) programs because both sectors had a unified mandate, common goals, and a clear understanding of refugee needs. This allowed them to create strategies to promote refugee children's participation in Head Start programs. For instance, agencies held information sessions about Head Start programs and provided interpretation services for families with

language barriers. However, other barriers, including lack of transportation and limited funding to provide translation and interpretation services, continued to create obstacles to participation among refugee children.

Deliberate efforts to overcome obstacles to participation are important. There is strong evidence that participation in ECE programs has many positive outcomes for immigrant and refugee children and their families. Evidence suggests that ECE programs promote cognitive school readiness skills and official language acquisition (Crosnoe 2007; Crosnoe 2013; Gormley 2008; Magnuson and Waldfogel 2005; Magnuson et al. 2006; Votruba-Drzal et al. 2015). These outcomes are often measured by assessing children's reading and math skills, such as children's knowledge of letters, word recognition, and vocabulary, as well as understanding of numbers and geometry. For instance, Magnuson et al. (2006) used data from the Early Childhood Longitudinal Survey—Kindergarten Cohort (ECLS-K), a nationally representative sample of kindergarteners in 1998-1999, to analyze the association between ECE program attendance and the school readiness of children of immigrants. Specifically, they found that children of immigrants who attended preschool in the year prior to kindergarten were more proficient in English and had better math and reading skills than those who were in parental care.

Similar observations were made in Gormley's (2008) study with Hispanic students in Tulsa, Oklahoma who participated in the Tulsa Public Schools Pre-K program. Hispanic students, especially the ones who came from a home where Spanish was the primary language and whose parents were born in Mexico ,made significant gains in pre-reading, pre-writing, and premath skills compared to Hispanic children who were not enrolled in the program. These positive outcomes may be explained by the fact that compared to informal or parental care, ECE programs provide trained caregivers, opportunities to interact with peers, and structured educational activities that are essential for learning and language development (Votruba-Drzal et al. 2015).

By maximizing the gains in school readiness skills, ECE programs have the potential to mitigate socioeconomic risks and close the gaps in long-term educational and occupational achievements between immigrant and native-born children (Magnuson and Waldfogel 2005). While there is a strong evidence that participation in ECE programs promotes development of cognitive and language skills, there is little research on behavioural outcomes of ECE programs for immigrant children (Votruba-Drzal et al. 2015). There is some evidence that ECE participation affects externalizing behaviours, which refer to disruptive, hyperactive, and aggressive behaviors (Crosnoe 2007; Turney and Kao 2009; Votruba-Drzal et al. 2015). Although centre-based care is often associated with negative behavioural outcomes, some evidence suggests that this may not be persistent across all groups of children. In particular, centre-based care may lead to more favorable behavioural outcomes for immigrant children (Turney and Kao 2009).

For instance, using the same data set from the ECLS-K survey, Turney and Kao (2009) examined the pre-kindergarten childcare arrangements of children of immigrant parents and how these

care arrangements were associated with children's behaviour. Using the Social Rating Scale (SRS), parents were asked to report on changes with respect to several dimensions of children's behaviour, including approaches to learning, self-control, social interaction, and impulsive behaviours. The approaches to learning scale included six items that rate how often children show eagerness to learn, interest in a variety of things, creativity, persistence, concentration, and responsibility. The self-control scale included five items that indicate how well children can control their behavior. The social interaction scale included three items that measure children's interactions with peers and adults. Finally, the impulsive/overactive scale measured children's impulsivity and activity level.

The analysis suggests that there is an association between pre-kindergarten childcare arrangements, race and immigration status, and some behavioural outcomes. In particular, compared with white native-born children, centre-based care was associated with better approaches to learning scores among black native-born children and foreign-born Asian children. Furthermore, centre-based care was associated with more favorable social interaction scores for black foreign-born and Hispanic foreign-born children.

Similarly, using parents' and teachers' assessments, Votruba-Drzal et al. (2015) analyzed the relationship between ECE participation and externalizing behaviour problems, including children's impulsive, disruptive, and aggressive behaviours. Parents and teachers independently reported on several behavioural items using the 5-point scales, from never to very often. Results of parental reports indicate that centre-based care was associated with reductions in externalizing behaviour problems among children from immigrant families, but increases for children of native-born parents. On the other hand, teachers' reports showed similar outcomes for both groups of children. Thus, these limited research findings suggest that centre-based care may contribute to some positive behavioural outcomes among immigrant children. However, more research is needed to assess whether centre-based care produces different behavioural outcomes for immigrant and native-born children.

Finally, for many immigrant and refugee families, ECE programs have an important social function because they offer environments to develop networks and access social support. These social outcomes can be measured by examining ECE program impacts on different types of social capital. For instance, Vesely et al. (2013) conducted in-depth interviews with immigrant Latina and African mothers in the United States to gain an understanding of how mothers use their children's ECE programs to build human, social, and navigational capital. The authors explain that *human capital* refers to "personal characteristics, skills, and capabilities that influence financial well-being" (p. 745). *Social capital* includes "benefits and resources that individuals, families, and groups receive through social relationships" (p. 745), and *navigational capital* refers to "characteristics and abilities, including resilience as well as cultural strategies and the use of individual agency within institutional constraints, used to maneuver various systems and institutions" (p. 745).

Findings suggest that participation in ECE programs promoted development of all three forms of capital among immigrant mothers. Specifically, ECE programs contributed to mothers' human capital by providing a safe space for their children while they worked or attended English classes and other educational programs. Additionally, mothers learned about new employment and educational opportunities through social connections with program educators and other mothers. These connections also offered them emotional and informational support to parent their children in U.S. society. According to immigrant mothers, social ties that they developed through ECE programs also increased their navigational capital because they learned how to navigate different support systems and services available to families. In particular, some mothers explained that ECE teachers guided them in how to interact with different system and service professionals. According to immigrant mothers, these opportunities for interaction greatly improved their English language skills and helped them develop confidence when communicating with teachers and other professionals. Thus, based on findings from this study, ECE programs may play an important role in acculturation and integration processes.

A study on refugee and asylum-seeking parents' experiences with childcare services in a small, mainly rural county in the northwest of Ireland yielded similar conclusions with respect to the benefits of ECE programs for the integration of refugee families (Dolan and Sherlock 2010). Through focus groups and interviews participants identified a lack of support networks as the primary factor contributing to their social exclusion and isolation. However, they highlighted that formal and informal social networks provided through childcare services were important sources of social support. Other benefits of participation in ECE programs included language and educational developments, and exposure to people from diverse backgrounds. Participants identified several barriers to participation in ECE programs, including cost of childcare services and communication and language barriers.

In conclusion, this brief review illustrates that ECE programs promote children's language acquisition and development of school readiness skills, important for academic success and occupational achievements. Beyond educational benefits, participation in ECE programs offers children and their parents opportunities to create community connections and social networks that can contribute to their acculturation and integration. However, immigrant and refugee children are less likely to be enrolled in ECE programs than native-born children. Given the strong evidence that ECE programs have a potential to address a variety of needs of immigrant and refugee families, it is important to develop appropriate approaches to promote their enrollment in these programs.

Analyzing different ECE programs across Europe and North America, Park et al. (2018) identified several promising practices that promoted access to ECE programs among immigrants and refugees. For instance, providing wrap-around services along with childcare, such as medical care and parenting training, ensures that children and their parents are supported in a holistic way. Other promising practices include offering expanded hours of operation to improve access, providing language support, and recruiting and training multilingual staff with cultural knowledge in order to make ECE programs more welcoming to a diverse population. In addition

to addressing socioeconomic inequalities and barriers associated with migration and resettlement, fostering a welcoming and inclusive environment also promotes immigrant and refugee participation in ECE programs.

Finally, it is important to note that most of the literature covered in this review is from the U.S. context, due to lack of Canadian-based literature. Immigrant and refugee children's experiences with ECE programs in the Canadian context may be different than those in the U.S., where there may be distinct ECE program policies and practices. Therefore, more research is needed to identify the outcomes of ECE program participation among immigrant and refugee children in Canada.

### **2.5.1** Table of Childcare and Early Childhood Education Indicators and Outcomes

EARLY CHILDHOOD EDUCATION (ECE) OUTCOMES	DESCRIPTION	EXAMPLES OF INDICATORS
Academic and Cognitive Skills	These measures evaluate impacts of ECE programs on children's academic and cognitive skills.	<ul> <li>Language Proficiency Skills         <ul> <li>Reading Skills</li> <li>Commonly, tests of these skills assess knowledge of letters and word recognition, beginning and ending sounds, vocabulary, and passage comprehension</li> </ul> </li> <li>Math Skills         <ul> <li>Commonly, test of these skills evaluate children's understanding of numbers, geometry, and spatial relations</li> </ul> </li> <li>Standard tests used: Peabody Picture Vocabulary Test and the Woodcock–Johnson Tests of Achievement</li> </ul>
Behaviour	Behavioural outcomes of ECE programs.	<ul> <li>Externalizing Behaviours (aggressive, impulsive, and disruptive behaviours)</li> <li>Parents and teachers are asked to measure children's behaviours using standard scales, such as Preschool and Kindergarten Behaviour Scale</li> <li>Approaches to Learning (rate how often children show eagerness to learn, interest in a variety of things, creativity, persistence, concentration, and responsibility)</li> </ul>

Social Social benefits of ECE programs participation for children and families.	<ul> <li>Social Capital (social relationships and networks)</li> <li>Human Capital (personal skills and capabilities)</li> <li>ECE programs provide environments that help build social and human capital (e.g., meeting other parents and teachers increases social networks that contribute to knowledge and information sharing)</li> </ul>
---	--

# 2.6 Community Connections Report

There is growing public concern that community connectedness and engagement in Canada may be decreasing as a result of increasing diversity through immigration and settlement (Lai and Hynie 2010; Kazemipur 2012; Pearce 2008). The main argument of this view is that immigrants and refugees associate primarily with their own ethnic groups and remain disengaged from the mainstream society. This report reviews literature demonstrating the extent to which immigrants and refugees feel connected and engaged in their communities compared to native-born Canadians, in terms of indicators of social connectedness and community engagement. Before doing so, the report first discusses how community connections and engagement have been measured in national and international surveys.

A surge of interest in the role of community connections in determining social, health, and economic outcomes started in the early 1990s as a result of Robert Putnam's work on social capital. According to Putnam (1995), social capital refers to relationships and structures within a community that promote cooperation for mutual benefit. He identifies three different types of social capital: bonding, bridging, and linking (Putnam 1995). Bonding social capital refers to networks that exist within a group and between people who are similar, such as family members or people of the same ethnic group. Bridging social capital involves the networks that exist between differing groups. Linking social capital refers to relationships between those who are within different societal levels that allow for access to particular resources, such as power and wealth. Linking ties may include civic society organizations, government agencies, political parties, and the private sector.

The essence of Putnam's social capital concept is the idea that social relations and mutual cooperation promote the development of healthy and functioning societies in which individuals care for each other and are involved in their community. Research studies have demonstrated that social connectedness and participation in one's community benefit individuals and a community as a whole. For instance, strong social ties are associated with better physical and psychological health (Ross 2002), life satisfaction and happiness (Blanchflower and Oswald 2000), and economic well-being (Weaver and Habibov 2012). Social connectedness can also promote a sense of empowerment because "it imbues individuals with feelings of autonomy, environmental mastery, and purpose in life" (Lai and Hynie 2010:94). On a communal level, strong social networks have been associated with positive community outcomes, such as lower crime and participation in community activities (Anderson and Milligan 2006).

However, while the issues of community connections are commonly discussed among community-serving non-profit organizations, policy makers, and governments, defining and measuring community connections can be challenging. Regardless, many national and international surveys include questions that are often considered to be targeting certain dimensions of social capital. For instance, the Canadian General Social Survey (GSS), National Survey of Giving, Volunteering and Participating (NSGVP), Canadian Index of Wellbeing (CIW), Canadian Community Health Survey (CCHS), as well as the Organisation for Economic Co-

Operation and Development (OECD)'s Better Life Index have included a number of indicators to measure individuals' relationships with others and community engagement. These indicators can broadly be divided in three groups: *feelings and attitudes, social connections,* and *community engagement* measures.

Feelings and attitudes measures include questions that assess individuals' feelings about their social status in the community, sense of belonging, level of trust in others and institutions, experiences of discrimination, and perceptions of safety and crime. Understanding individuals' feelings and attitudes is important for interpreting their social connectedness and community engagement. For example, the indicator 'sense of belonging,' represented by the proportion of the population that reports a somewhat strong or very strong sense of belonging to their community/neighbourhood/country, has been positively associated with one's desire to engage and contribute to the community by voting in elections, participating in group activities, or volunteering (Painter 2013; Pearce 2008; Schellenberg 2004). On the other hand, experiences or feelings of discrimination have a negative impact on mental and emotional health and wellbeing, and contribute to one's feelings of social exclusion and disengagement from the community (Canadian Index of Wellbeing (CIW); Lai and Hynie 2010).

Measures of social connections focus on individuals' social relations with others. Common indicators of social connectedness include the number of friends/close friends, frequency of getting together with friends, knowing neighbours and getting together with them, but also obstacles to seeing friends, to making new friends, and to meeting neighbours, and feeling alone (Engagement and Connectedness Survey 2012; GSS 2003; 2008; 2013). The size of social networks and quality of relationships with others are important indicators of individual and community well-being. For instance, Schellenberg (2004) argues that "social networks can create a sense of belonging as interaction between people builds community and a sense of connectedness" (p. 17). Strong social networks also offer an important form of support, including emotional, physical, financial, or informational support, and are critical for the mental and physical well-being of individuals. Social networks are especially crucial for successful settlement and integration of newly arrived refugees and immigrants because they are often essential for accessing information on employment, housing, and other resources in the community (Lamba and Krahn 2007).

Lastly, community engagement refers to a range of activities in which people participate for their own enjoyment or benefit, or for the benefit of others in their community. Community engagement measures include questions on memberships in groups or organizations (e.g., type of organization, frequency), volunteer work and charitable giving, voting behaviour, religious engagement (e.g., frequency of attending religious functions), cultural engagement (e.g., membership in cultural organizations), political engagement (e.g., political party membership) and engagement in recreational activities (e.g., participation in sport activities) (Kazemipur 2012). Community engagement gives individuals an opportunity to become engaged in decision-making processes, and offers many benefits to individuals and a community as a whole, including: material benefits (i.e., access to employment opportunities, skill

development, language acquisition); solidarity benefits that derive from social interactions (i.e., friendship, personal satisfaction); and purposive benefits that derive from the supra-personal goals of the organization (i.e., bettering the community, fulfilling religious obligations, helping out) (Frideres 1997).

Research has analyzed data collected from the surveys mentioned above, to assess whether there are any differences between immigrants and native-born Canadians in terms of various indicators of community connectedness and engagement. In general, findings suggest that Canadians have strong social ties and high levels of community engagement. The majority of Canadians report a strong sense of belonging to their country, province, and community (Schellenberg 2004), a high sense of pride in their Canadian identity (Sinha 2015), and a great deal of confidence in public institutions (Schellenberg 2004). To illustrate, the results of the 2003 GSS show that most Canadians reported a very strong or somewhat strong sense of belonging to Canada (86%), their province (78%), and their community (68%) (Schellengerg 2004). It is encouraging to know that the vast majority of immigrants also described their sense of belonging to Canada, their province, and the community as very strong or somewhat strong (84%, 72% and 65%, respectively). This finding is important because "feeling of loyalty and belonging could translate into wanting the best for the community and hence the action of getting involved" (Bryant and Norris 2002). Other studies have found that immigrants' sense of belonging to Canada grows with duration of stay (Burton and Phipps 2010), but also that discrimination and visible minority status negatively impacts their sense of belonging to Canada (Hou et al. 2016).

Immigrants and native-born Canadians also report similar levels of confidence in public institutions. For example, according to findings from the 2003 GSS, both immigrants and native-born Canadians have high levels of trust in public institutions, especially the police, local business people, banks, the health care system, and the school system (Schellenberg, 2004). In fact, compared to native-born Canadians, immigrants report slightly higher confidence in public institutions, including the judiciary, government, police, and education and health care systems (Kazemipur 2012). However, this can be the result of a tendency of some immigrants to compare their country of origin and its infrastructure and systems to those of Canada (where Canada may be viewed as a more prosperous country).

On the other hand, according to the 2003 GSS, immigrants report having smaller social networks and less neighbourliness than native-born Canadians (Kazemipur 2012). Similarly, the recent Connections and Engagement survey of Metro Vancouver residents found that compared to the total sample, newcomers, defined as those who lived in Canada for five years or less, are more likely to report that they have difficulties making new friends (31% and 50%, respectively) (2012). Moreover, newcomers living in Metro Vancouver are also more likely to think that their neighbours are not interested in getting to know them. The results of the Longitudinal Survey of Immigrants to Canada also show that a substantial portion of immigrants to Canada struggle to build social relationships in their communities (Schellenberg and Maheux 2007). These findings are important because they indicate that immigrants may lack social

connections with the mainstream society, which is important for their well-being and integration.

Regarding aspects of community engagement, immigrants fall behind native-born in dimensions such as volunteering, participation in group activities, political expression, and voting (Kazemipur 2012). To illustrate, the results of the 2000 National Survey of Giving, Volunteering and Participating (NSGVP) and the 2003 General Social Survey (GSS) indicate that almost 30% of immigrants volunteered for non-profit or charitable organizations, about 5% fewer than Canadian-born (Scott et al. 2006). However, rates of volunteering among immigrants increase the longer they have lived in Canada. This may reflect that recent immigrants lack time to volunteer because they are concerned with finding housing and employment. Recent immigrants who are eligible to vote are also less likely to vote than their Canadian-born counterparts. Some explanations for lower voter turnout among immigrants include the lack of democratic traditions in some regions of the world, the lack of trust in institutions, or differences in political culture (Uppal and LaRochelle-Cote 2016). According to the NSGVP, 60% of immigrants and 77% of Canadian-born respondents voted in the November federal election in 2000 (Scott et al. 2006). However, more recent findings on immigrants' voting rates show that participation for eligible immigrants increased from 68.5% in 2011 federal elections to 74.9% in 2015 elections (Uppal and LaRochelle-Cote 2016). A closer look also reveals that established immigrants, defined as those living in Canada for at least 10 years, had higher voter turnout than recent immigrants in 2015 federal elections (76% and 70%, respectively; Uppal and LaRochelle-Cote 2016). Interestingly, voter turnout for Canadian-born, non-Aboriginal persons in 2015 elections was 77.9%, which is only slightly higher than the turnout rate of established immigrants.

Although these findings suggest that immigrants may not be significantly different than the Canadian-born in many areas of community connections and engagement, "given the benefits that engagement and participation can bring to individuals and communities, understanding variables that can increase community engagement in immigrant communities is essential" (Lai and Hynie 2010, p. 94). This is especially important because community connections have been identified as a crucial element in newcomers' integration. For example, Goodkind and Foster-Fishman (2002) argue that:

Participation in the broader community is an important process through which [immigrants and refugees] can acquire the language skills, cultural knowledge, and connections they need to access resources and adjust to a new, unknown environment. Participation is also an avenue through which refugees can contribute to their communities and through which their experiences and knowledge can be valued. (p. 391)

Similarly, in their holistic model of integration, Hynie et al. (2016) identify social connections as a critical component of successful integration. According to Hynie et al., social connections include the key elements of social capital identified by Putnam: social bonds, bridges, and links.

Relationships with family, co-ethnic groups and other communities, connections to social services and institutions, as well as community engagement in civic activities are seen as important for successful integration because they allow newcomers to access information and community resources such as education, employment, and housing. However, in addition to social connections, Hynie et al. (2016) also identify *community welcome* and *institutional adaptation* as important social factors that contribute to integration of newcomers. Community welcome refers to positive community attitudes, and positive public discourse that is inclusive of immigrants and refugees. Institutional adaptations require changes in the practices and policies by governments, institutions, and community organizations in order to meet the needs of newcomers.

Thus, integration is not only about changes that immigrants need to make to adapt to their new community, but it also depends on the ability of the community as whole to create a welcoming environment and accommodate the needs of their diverse population. Moreover, there has been an increasing recognition that the provision of basic settlement needs may not be sufficient for successful integration because many immigrants and refugees experience a number of barriers that prevent them from developing social connections and integrating in the community. For example, in their study with Hmong refugees resettled in the United States, Goodkind and Foster-Fishman (2002) found that Hmong refugees "participated both formally and informally in their communities and valued it highly," but that their involvement was limited because they experienced multiple barriers, including language differences, time constraints, discrimination, and a lack of awareness of opportunities. They found that, as a result, "many felt disempowered and excluded from meaningful participation in their communities" and that "no supports to address these issues existed in their communities" (p. 403). Similar to the immigrants in the Metro Vancouver survey who had lower levels of engagement with their neighbours, reported difficulties when meeting new friends, and felt that their neighbours were not interested in getting to know them, Hmong refugees also felt excluded by their neighbours. These findings indicate that immigrants may lack social interactions with the host society. Integration of immigrants and refugees in the community may not be possible without the genuine effort by the host society to create a welcoming community.

A welcoming community "is a place where there is a strong desire to receive newcomers and to create an environment in which they will feel at home" (Esses et al. 2010, p. 9). In addition to providing settlement services that facilitate integration by enabling immigrants to access information and resources, welcoming communities should also identify and remove barriers, promote a sense of belonging, and meet diverse individual needs (Esses et al. 2010). Esses et al. (2010) identified 17 characteristics of a welcoming community, including characteristics such as: employment opportunities, ability to foster social capital, affordable and suitable housing, positive attitudes toward Immigrants, cultural diversity, and the presence of newcomers in the community, presence of newcomer-serving agencies that can successfully meet the needs of newcomers, educational opportunities, and accessible and suitable health care.

There are multiple indicators within these characteristics that measure the strength of the welcome. For example, employment opportunities outcomes include low unemployment rates, adequate wages, low underemployment rates and lack of employment discrimination. Ravanera et al. (2013) used these 17 characteristics to develop the Integration and Welcomeability Indexes. The Integration index measures the social, economic, and political integration of individuals. The Welcome-ability Index measures the capacities of communities to welcome and integrate newcomers in economic, social and health domains.

A recent initiative by the federal government of Canada, the Welcoming Communities Initiative, reflects a desire to promote social interactions between newcomers and Canadians and eliminate barriers to integration through ongoing anti-racism activities, including awareness-raising, outreach, tools and resource development, and direct services aimed at newcomers, youth, and communities. However, the evaluation study of the Welcoming Communities Initiative revealed that the continued existence of racism and discrimination against newcomers and visible minorities requires even greater efforts to address these issues (Citizenship and Immigration Canada 2010). Therefore, as concluded by Hynie et al. (2016), "successful integration needs to take into account the extent to which the social context has changed in recognition of the specific needs of refugee [and immigrant] residents" (p. 31). To promote community connectedness and engagement, the host society needs to send a clear message to newcomers that they are welcome and accepted in their new communities.

### **2.6.1** Table of Community Connections Indicators and Outcomes

COMMUNITY CONNECTIONS OUTCOMES	DESCRIPTION	EXAMPLES OF INDICATORS
Feelings and Attitudes	Include feelings and attitudes toward themselves and others in the community that are important predictors of community engagement and participation.	<ul> <li>Sense of belonging (to country, province, city, community)</li> <li>Discrimination (based on race, ethnicity, culture, religion, etc.)</li> <li>Feeling of trust (e.g., trust in people in general, and in family members, neighbours, coworkers, strangers)</li> <li>Confidence in main institutions (e.g., the education system, health care system, welfare system, government, judiciary, and police)</li> </ul>

Social Connections	Social connections measures include social networks, connections with others, and social support. Social support describes the feeling or act of being cared for or assisted by others in one's social network.	<ul> <li>Personal friendships (e.g., number of friends; number of close friends; frequency of getting together with friends; obstacles to seeing close friends; difficulties meeting new friends; etc.)</li> <li>Neighbourhood connections (e.g., frequency of conversations with neighbours; knowing your neighbour's name; getting together with neighbours; doing favours for neighbours; etc.)</li> <li>Reciprocity (e.g., provided unpaid help to others; received unpaid help from others)</li> </ul>
Community Engagements	Community engagement refers to a range of activities in which people participate for their own enjoyment or benefit, or for the benefit of others in their community.	<ul> <li>Voting (e.g., voted in the last federal, provincial; municipal or local election)</li> <li>Religious engagement (e.g., importance of religious/spiritual beliefs; affiliation with a religious group; frequency of attending religious functions)</li> <li>Cultural/communal engagement (e.g., participation in cultural activities; membership in school groups and/or neighbourhood associations)</li> <li>Political engagement (e.g., political party membership; volunteered for political party)</li> <li>Political sensitivity (e.g., searching for information on political issues; expressing views by contacting newspapers and politicians; speaking out at public meetings; providing help by teaching, coaching, and giving practical advice)</li> <li>Political activism (e.g., signing petitions; participating in demonstrations)</li> <li>Engagement in recreational activities (e.g., current membership and/or participation in sports and recreational activities as well as their engagement in such activities back in their school years)</li> <li>Social engagement for self-interested purposes (e.g., membership in labour unions; participation in service clubs and fraternal organizations; frequency of following news and current affairs)</li> <li>Volunteering (e.g., whether or not one has done volunteer work and the amount of time devoted to such work)</li> </ul>

This section discussed the findings of a series of literature reviews. The literature reviews covered a number of thematic areas relevant to the program and service areas offered by the Immigrant and Refugee Community Organization of Manitoba (IRCOM). These are: housing, language proficiency, financial literacy, after-school youth programs, childcare and early childhood education, and community connections. The reviews cover general findings related to housing and immigrant and refugee settlement and integration and were primarily aimed at identifying key indicators and outcomes and ways of measuring them. Highlights and examples of outcomes and indicators are included in the tables here. Additional, more detailed information was collected as part of this project (please contact IRCOM or the authors for more information). One of IRCOM's goals in compiling these was to identify key evidence-based measures as indicated in the literature, for reference and to compare with current data variables and measures collected by the organization and its programs. An additional objective was to assess the degree to which current data collected by IRCOM aligned with other, external data sets (to better understand and identify opportunities for future data linkages or comparative studies). Further information on these data sets can be found in Section 3 -"Relevant External Data Sets." The information collected by IRCOM through this planning project contributes to an understanding of the complex housing needs of refugee families and how they can be supported through transitional housing and wrap-around supports.

# 3.0 Relevant External Data Sets

As part of the Immigrant and Refugee Community Organization of Manitoba (IRCOM)'s National Housing Strategy (NHS)-funded planning project, IRCOM identified and compiled a list of relevant provincial- and national-level data sets. One of IRCOM's objectives is to better and more comprehensively evaluate its holistic transitional housing model with wrap-around supports. Linking organizational- and program-level internal measures and assessments with data from external data sets would enable comparative analyses of housing and settlement trajectories of IRCOM tenants with a wider sample of newcomers. This would contribute to an enhanced understanding of the effectiveness of IRCOM's housing model, resultant outcomes, any gaps, and impacts on newcomer families. It would provide a strong rationale and evidence for replication or adaptation of the model elsewhere.

What follows is a list of relevant data sets that provide data on immigrants and refugees and their settlement and integration outcomes. An overview of the data, source, and description of each data set are provided.

DATA SET	SOURCE	DESCRIPTION
Longitudinal Immigration Database (IMDB)	Statistics Canada <sup>1</sup>	Administrative immigration data (e.g., immigrant admission category, source country, knowledge of official languages) for all immigrants since 1952 and non-permanent residents since 1980, plus tax files (e.g., wages, salaries) since 1982. Contains information on socioeconomic outcomes (e.g., mobility), pre-admission experience in Canada, citizenship acquisition since 2005, and settlement services participation since 2013. Combines immigration information from IRCC, taxation data from the Canada Revenue Agency, and the date of death from the Canadian Mortality Database (CMDB).
Longitudinal Survey of Immigrants to Canada (LSIC)	Statistics Canada <sup>2</sup>	Survey participants were individuals who arrived in Canada between October 1, 2000 and September 30, 2001. There were three waves of data collection (2001, 2003, and 2005) (i.e., a panel survey). The LSIC was designed to examine the first four years of settlement; specifically, the information collected can be used to assess how new immigrants adjust to life in Canada and to understand the factors that can help or hinder adjustment. The information collected includes: language proficiency, housing, education, foreign credential recognition, employment, health, values and attitudes, the development and use of social networks, income, and perceptions of settlement in Canada. Approximately 12,000 people, 9,300 people, and 7,700 people were surveyed in each wave.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> IMBD: https://www23.statcan.gc.ca/imdb/p2SV.pl?Function=getSurvey&SDDS=5057

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> LSIC: <a href="https://www23.statcan.gc.ca/imdb/p2SV.pl?Function=getSurvey&ld=3495&db=IMDB">https://www23.statcan.gc.ca/imdb/p2SV.pl?Function=getSurvey&ld=3495&db=IMDB</a> (wave 1), <a href="https://www23.statcan.gc.ca/imdb/p2SV.pl?Function=getSurvey&ld=6812&db=IMDB">https://www23.statcan.gc.ca/imdb/p2SV.pl?Function=getSurvey&ld=30691&db=IMDB</a> (wave 3)

Extended Longitudinal Survey of Immigrants to Canada (LSIC-IMDB)	Statistics Canada <sup>3</sup>	LSIC and tax data from the IMBD have been combined.
Canadian Community Health Survey linked to the Longitudinal Immigration Database (CCHS-IMDB)	Statistics Canada <sup>4</sup>	CCHS and the IMDB have been linked; includes data on health, social, and economic outcomes of immigrants in different immigration classes and categories.
Ethnic Diversity Survey (EDS)	Statistics Canada <sup>5</sup>	Data collection occurred in 2002, following the 2001 Census. Information collected includes: ethnic ancestry, ethnic identity, place of birth, visible minority status, religion, religious participation, knowledge of languages, family background, family interaction, social networks, civic participation, interaction with society, attitudes, satisfaction with life, trust and socio-economic activities. The final sample includes 42,476 people.
Permanent Resident Landing File (PRLF)	Statistics Canada <sup>6</sup>	PRLF is from Citizenship and Immigration Canada (CIC). It contains approximately 2.75 million records on all individuals who landed in Canada between 2003 and 2013. The information is derived from the information included on each individual's landing record.
Longitudinal Immigration Database – Discharge Abstracts Database (IMDB-DAD)	Statistics Canada <sup>7</sup>	IMDB landing years 1980-2013 linked to the DAD (i.e., hospital data) years 2000/2001 to 2013/2014.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> LSIC-IMBD: https://crdcn.org/datasets/lsic-imdb-extended-longitudinal-survey-immigrants-canada

 $<sup>^{4} \</sup> CCHS-IMDB: \\ \underline{https://crdcn.org/datasets/cchs-imdb-canadian-community-health-survey-linked-longitudinal-immigration-database}$ 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> EDS: https://www23.statcan.gc.ca/imdb/p2SV.pl?Function=getSurvey&Id=4077&db=IMDB

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> PRLF: <a href="https://www.statcan.gc.ca/eng/rdc/data/prlf">https://www.statcan.gc.ca/eng/rdc/data/prlf</a>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> IMDB-DAD: <a href="https://crdcn.org/datasets/imdb-dad-longitudinal-immigration-database-discharge-abstract-database">https://crdcn.org/datasets/imdb-dad-longitudinal-immigration-database-discharge-abstract-database</a>

Study on International Money Transfers (SIMT)	Statistics Canada <sup>8</sup>	THE SIMT survey collected information about international money transfers from residents of Canada to their relatives or friends living outside Canada. Specifically, the information collected included: ways to send money, reasons for choosing one method over another, different uses of the money, amounts transferred, fees, and frequency of transferring money. The SIMT was conducted from April to July, 2018. The sample was comprised of landed immigrants, temporary residents of Canada, and naturalized Canadians who were born in Official Development Assistance (ODA) recipient countries. The temporary residents included in the survey were refugee claimants and persons with a work permit in 2017.
General Social Survey: Canadians at Work and Home	Statistics Canada <sup>9</sup>	This survey was administered for the first time in 2016. The survey collects information on the quality of life and Canadians' views about work, and work-life balance. Survey topics include: work intensity, job security, compensation and benefits, work satisfaction, intercultural workplace relations, discrimination and harassment, work-life balance, eating habits, nutritional awareness, use of technology, sports, involvement in outdoor and cultural activities, purpose of life, opportunities, life aspirations, outlook, and resilience.
General Social Survey: Family	Statistics Canada <sup>10</sup>	This survey captures information on the structure of families and uses retrospective questions to follow the historic evolution of families. Years: 1984, 1990 (cycle 5), 1995 (cycle 10), 2001 (cycle 15), 2017 (cycle 31)
General Social Survey: Caregiving and Care Receiving	Statistics Canada <sup>11</sup>	This survey collects information on individuals who provide care to family and friends with long-term health conditions, physical or mental disabilities or challenges related to aging. The survey also includes individuals who receive care and about the challenges both groups face. Years: 1996 (cycle 11), 2002 (cycle 16), 2007 (cycle 21), 2012 (cycle 26), 2018 (cycle 32)
General Social Survey: Victimization	Statistics Canada <sup>12</sup>	This survey collects information perceptions of crime, attitudes towards the justice system, and experiences of victimization. Years: 1988 (cycle 3), 1993 (cycle 8), 1999 (cycle 13), 2004 (cycle 18), 2009 (cycle 23), 2014 (cycle 28), 2019 (cycle 33)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> SIMT: https://www23.statcan.gc.ca/imdb/p2SV.pl?Function=getSurvey&SDDS=5258&dis=1#a1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> GSS: https://www23.statcan.gc.ca/imdb/p2SV.pl?Function=getSurvey&ld=302914&dis=1

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> GSS (Family): https://www23.statcan.gc.ca/imdb/p2SV.pl?Function=getSurvey&Id=335816

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> GSS (Caregiving and Care Receiving):

https://www23.statcan.gc.ca/imdb/p2SV.pl?Function=getSurvey&SDDS=4502&dis=1

12 GSS (Victimization): https://www23.statcan.gc.ca/imdb/p2SV.pl?Function=getSurvey&SDDS=4504

General Social Survey: Time Use	Statistics Canada <sup>13</sup>	This survey collects information on how Canadians spend (e.g., on work, commuting, recreation, family, friends, internet, social media) and manage their time, and what contributes to their well-being and stress. Years: 1986 (cycle 2), 1992 (cycle 7), 1998 (cycle 12), 2005 (cycle 19), 2010 (cycle 24), 2015/16 (cycle 29)
General Social Survey: Social Identity	Statistics Canada <sup>14</sup>	The survey includes questions on the following topics: social networks, civic participation and engagement, knowledge of Canadian history, appreciation of national symbols, shared values, and confidence in institutions and trust in people. This survey provides a picture of Canadians' identification, attachment, belonging and pride in their social and cultural environment.  Years: 2003 (cycle 17), 2008 (cycle 22), 2013 (cycle 27)
General Social Survey: Giving, Volunteering, and Participating	Statistics Canada <sup>15</sup>	This survey collects information about individuals' contributory behaviors, including volunteering, charitable giving, and civic participation.  Years: 1997, 2000, 2004, 2007, 2010, 2013 (cycle 27), 2018 (cycle 33)
Ontario Adult Literacy Survey (OALS)	Statistics Canada <sup>16</sup>	The OALS measured Ontario's immigrants' perceived skills in English or French and in their own mother tongue and their perceived needs for training and the barriers which may restrict access to training. Data was collected in 1998.
Longitudinal Administrative Databank (LAD)	Statistics Canada <sup>17</sup>	The LAD is a longitudinal file (calendar years, 1982 to 2017) which comprises a 20% sample of the annual T1 Family File. The LAD contains annual demographic variables, including the landing year of recent immigrants, an immigration flag, and annual income information for both the individual and their census family.

https://www23.statcan.gc.ca/imdb/p2SV.pl?Function=getSurvey&SDDS=4430

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> GSS (Time Use): <a href="https://www23.statcan.gc.ca/imdb/p2SV.pl?Function=getSurvey&ld=217657&db=IMDB">https://www23.statcan.gc.ca/imdb/p2SV.pl?Function=getSurvey&ld=217657&db=IMDB</a>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> GSS (Social Identity): <a href="https://www23.statcan.gc.ca/imdb/p2SV.pl?Function=getSurvey&Id=139605">https://www23.statcan.gc.ca/imdb/p2SV.pl?Function=getSurvey&Id=139605</a>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> GSS (Giving, Volunteering, and Participating):

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> OALS: https://www23.statcan.gc.ca/imdb/p2SV.pl?Function=getSurvey&ld=3504&db=IMDB 
<sup>17</sup> LAD: https://www23.statcan.gc.ca/imdb/p2SV.pl?Function=getSurvey&SDDS=4107&dis=1

# Appendix: Literature Review Bibliography

# 1) Housing Review References

### 1.1. Housing Needs and Barriers Accessing Housing

- Carter, T. (2010). The Challenges of Increasing Diversity in Areas of Urban Decline: A Winnipeg Case Study. *Canadian Issues/Thèmes Canadiens* (Newcomer's Experiences of Housing and Homelessness in Canada). Montréal: Association for Canadian Studies, Fall 2010: 96-99.
- Carter, T. and J. Osborne (2009). Housing and Neighbourhood Challenges of Refugee
  Resettlement in Declining Inner City Neighbourhoods: A Winnipeg Case Study. *Journal of Immigrant and Refugee Studies*, 7: 308-327.
- Carter, T., C. Polevychok, & J. Osborne (2009). The Role of Housing and Neighbourhood in the Re- settlement Process. A Case Study of Refugee Households in Winnipeg. *The Canadian Geographer*, 53(3): 305-322.
- Francis, J. (2009). You Cannot Settle Like This: The Housing Situation of African Refugees in Metro Vancouver. Vancouver: Metropolis British Columbia, Working Paper Series, No. 09-02.
- Francis, J., & Hiebert, D. (2014). Shaky Foundations: Refugees in Vancouver's Housing Market. *Canadian Geographer*. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1541-0064.2013.12056.x
- Haan, M. (2010a). The Residential Crowding of Immigrants to Canada. *Canadian Thèmes Canadiens* (Newcomer's Experiences of Housing and Homelessness in Canada). Montréal: Association for Canadian Studies, Fall 2010: 18-23.
- Hiebert, D. (2010b). Newcomers in the Canadian Housing Market. *Canadian Issues/Thèmes Canadiens* (Newcomer's Experiences of Housing and Homelessness in Canada). Montréal: Association for Canadian Studies, Fall 2010: 8-15. (http://canada.metropolis.net/publications/aec\_citc\_fall2010\_e.pdf)
- Hiebert, D. (2009). Newcomers in the Canadian Housing Market: A Longitudinal Study, 2001-2005. *The Canadian Geographer*, 53 (3): 268-287.
- Rose, D. (2010). The Housing Situation of Recent Immigrants to Montréal in Comparative Metropolitan Perspective: Contrasts and Convergences. *Canadian Issues/Thèmes Canadiens* (Newcomer's Experiences of Housing and Homelessness in Canada). Montréal: Association for Canadian Studies, Fall 2010: 73-78
- Sherrell, K. M. (2011). Finding a Home: The Housing Experiences of Government Assisted Refugees and Refugee Claimants in Winnipeg and Vancouver. PhD Disertation. The University of British Columbia.
- Teixeira, C. (2011). Finding a Home of Their Own: Immigrant Housing Experiences in Central Okanagan, British Columbia, and Policy Recommendations for Change. *Journal of International Migration and Integration*, 12:173-197.

- Teixeira, C. (2009). New Immigrant Settlement in a Mid-Sized City: A Case Study of Housing Barriers and Coping Strategies in Kelowna, British Columbia. *The Canadian Geographer*, 53(3): 323-339.
- Walsh, C. A., Hanley, J., Ives, N., & Hordyk, S. R. (2015). Exploring the Experiences of Newcomer Women with Insecure Housing in Montréal Canada. *Journal of International Migration and Integration*, 17:887-904.
- Wayland, S. (2007). The Housing Needs of Immigrants and Refugees in Canada (Ottawa: Canadian Housing and Renewal Association).

### 1.2. Housing Mobility, Trajectories and Outcomes

- Bergeron, J. & S. Potter (2006). Family Members and Relatives: An Important Resource for Newcomers' Settlement? *Canadian Issues*, Spring: 76-80.
- Brown, N. R. (2017). Housing Experiences of Recent Immigrants to Canada's Small Cities: the Case of North Bay, Ontario. *Journal of International Migration and Integration*.
- Carter, T., C. Polevychok, A. Friesen, & J. Osborne (2008a). The Housing Circumstances of Recently Arrived Refugees: The Winnipeg Experience. Winnipeg: Canada Research Chair in Urban Change and Adaptation, The University of Winnipeg.
- Carter, T., C. Polevychok, A. Friesen, & J. Osborne (2008b). "The River of Life": The Settlement Experience of Refugees in Winnipeg. Winnipeg: Canada Research Chair in Urban Change and Adaptation, The University of Winnipeg, Research Highlight No. 32.
- D'Addario, S., D. Hiebert, & K. Sherrell (2007). Restricted Access: The Role of Social Capital in Mitigating Absolute Homelessness among Immigrants and Refugees in GVRD. *Refuge*, 24(1): 107-115.
- Francis, J. (2009). You Cannot Settle Like This: The Housing Situation of African Refugees in Metro Vancouver. Vancouver: Metropolis British Columbia, Working Paper Series, No. 09-02.
- Hiebert, D., A. Germain, R. Murdie, V. Preston, J. Renaud, D. Rose, E. Wyly, V. Ferreira, P. Mendez, & A.M. Murnaghan (2006). The Housing Situation and Needs of Recent Immigrants in the Montréal, Toronto, and Vancouver CMAs: an Overview. Ottawa: Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation.
- Hiebert, D. & Mendez, P. (2008). Settling in: Newcomers in the Canadian Housing Market, 2001-2005. Prepared for Canadian Mortgage and Housing Corporation (CMHC).
- Lauer, S.R. & M.C. Yan (2007). Neighbourhood Houses and Bridging Social Ties. Metropolis British Columbia: Working Paper Series 07-07.
- Logan, J., & Murdie, R. (2016). Home in Canada? The Settlement Experiences of Tibetans in Parkdale, Toronto. *Journal of International Migration and Integration*.
- Mendez, P., Hiebert, D., & Wyly, E. (2006). Landing at Home: Insights on Immigration and Metropolitan Housing Markets from the Longitudinal Survey of Immigrants to Canada. *Canadian Journal of Urban Research*, 15(2), 82–104.
- Murdie, R. A. (2008). Pathways to housing: The experiences of sponsored refugees and refugee claimants in accessing permanent housing in Toronto. *Journal of International Migration and Integration*, 9(1), 81–101.

- Murdie, R., & Teixeira, C. (2003). "Towards a Comfortable Neighbourhood and Appropriate Housing: Immigrant Experiences in Toronto." Chapter 3 in P. Anisef and M. Lanphier (eds.) The World in a City. Toronto, University of Toronto Press: 132-191
- Ren, T. (2013) Resilience And Housing Choices Among Filipino Immigrants In Toronto. International Journal of Housing Policy, 13:4, 408-432
- Renaud, J., K. Bégin, V. Ferreira, & D. Rose (2006). The Residential Mobility of Newcomers to Canada: The First Months. *Canadian Journal of Urban Research*, 15(2): 67-81.
- Sherrell, K. (2010). Legal Status, Place, or Something Else? The Housing Experiences of Refugees in Winnipeg and Vancouver. *Canadian Issues/Thèmes Canadiens* (Newcomer's Experiences of Housing and Homelessness in Canada). Montréal: Association for Canadian Studies, Fall 2010: 52-59.
- Teixeira, C. (2011). Finding a Home of Their Own: Immigrant Housing Experiences in Central Okanagan, British Columbia, and Policy Recommendations for Change. *Journal of International Migration and Integration*.
- Teixeira, C. (2008). Barriers and Outcomes in the Housing Searches of New Immigrants and Refugees: A Case Study of 'Black' Africans in Toronto's Rental Market. *Journal of Housing and the Built Environment*, 23(4): 253-276.
- Teixeira, C. (2007). Residential Experiences and the Culture of Suburbanization: A Case Study of Portuguese Homebuyers in Mississauga. *Housing Studies*, 22(4): 495-521.
- Teixeira, C. (2006). Housing Experiences of Black Africans in Toronto's Rental Market: A Case Study of Angolan and Mozambican Immigrants. *Canadian Ethnic Studies*, 38(3): 58-86.
- Teixeira, C., & Drolet, J. L. (2018). Settlement And Housing Experiences Of Recent Immigrants In Small- And Mid-Sized Cities In The Interior Of British Columbia (Canada). *Journal of Housing and the Built Environment*, 33(1), 19–43.

#### 1.3. Homelessness

- Hiebert, D., D'Addario,S. & Sherrell,K. (2009). "Taking Care of their Own? Or Falling Between the Cracks? Absolute and Relative Homelessness Among Immigrants, Refugees, and Refugee Claimants in Vancouver." Chapter 5.2 in Hulchanski, J.D. et al., (eds.), Finding Home: Policy Options for Addressing Homelessness in Canada. Toronto: Cities Centre, University of Toronto
- Hiebert, D., D'Addario,S. & Sherrell,K. (2005). The Profile of Absolute and Relative Homelessness Among Immigrants, Refugees, and Refugee Claimants in the GVRD: Final Report. Vancouver: MOSAIC
- Kissoon, P. (2010a). An Uncertain Home: Refugee Protection, Illegal Immigration Status, and their Effects on Migrants' Housing Stability in Vancouver and Toronto. *Canadian Issues/Thèmes Canadiens* (Newcomer's Experiences of Housing and Homelessness in Canada). Montréal: Association for Canadian Studies, Fall 2010: 8-15.
- Kissoon, P. (2010b). From Persecution To Destitution: A Snapshot Of Asylum Seekers' Housing And Settlement Experiences In Canada And The United Kingdom. *Journal Immigrant And Refugee Studies*, 8(1): 4–31.

- Paradis, E., Novac, S., Sarty, M.& Hulchanski, J.D.(2010). Homelessness and Housing Among Status Immigrant, Non-Status Migrant, and Canadian-Born Families in Toronto. Canadian Issues/Thèmes Canadiens (Newcomer's Experiences of Housing and Homelessness in Canada). Montréal: Association Canadian Studies, Fall 2010: 36-39.
- Paradis, E., Novac, S., Sarty, M.& Hulchanski, J.D. (2009). "Better off in a Shelter? A Year of Homelessness & Housing Among Status Immigrant, Non-Status Migrant, and Canadian-Born Families." Chapter 4.2 in Hulchanski, J.D. et al., (editors). Finding Home: Policy Options for Addressing Homelessness in Canada. Toronto: Cities Centre, University of Toronto
- Preston, V., Murdie, R., D'Addario, S., Sibanda, P., Murnaghan, A. M., Logan, J., & Ahn, M. H. (2011). *Precarious Housing and Hidden Homelessness Among Refugees, Asylum Seekers, and Immigrants in the Toronto Metropolitan Area*. The Ontario Metropolis Centre.
- Preston, V., R. Murdie, J. Wedlock, S. Agrawal, U. Anucha, S. D'Addario, M.J. Kwak, J. Logan, and A.M. Murnaghan (2009). Immigrants and Homelessness At Risk in Canada's Outer Suburbs. *The Canadian Geographer*, 53 (3): 288-304.
- Sherrell, K., S. D'Addario, & D. Hiebert (2007). On the Outside Looking In: The Precarious Housing Situations of Successful Refugee Claimants in the GVRD. *Refuge*, 24(2): 64-75.
- Shier, M. L., Graham, J. R., Fukuda, E., & Turner, A. (2016). Predictors of Living in Precarious Housing Among Immigrants Accessing Housing Support Services. *Journal of International Migration and Integration*.
- St. Arnault, D., & Merali, N. (2018). Refugee Pathways out of Homelessness in Urban Alberta, Canada: Implications for Social Justice-oriented C ounselling. *Counselling Psychology Quarterly*.

### 1.4. Homeownership

- Haan, M. (2007a). The Homeownership Hierarchies of Canada and the United States: The Housing Patterns of White and Non-White Immigrants of the Past Thirty Years. *The International Migration Review*, 41(2): 433-66.
- Haan, M. (2007b). Do I Buy with a Little Help from My Friends? Homeownership- Relevant Group Characteristics and Homeownership Disparities Among Canadian Immigrant Groups, 1971-2001. *Housing Studies*, 22(6): 921-944.
- Haan, M. (2005). The Decline of Immigrant Homeownership Advantage: Life-cycle, Declining Fortunes, and Changing Housing Careers in Montreal, Toronto, and Vancouver, 1981-2001. *Urban Studies*, 14(2): 2191-2212.
- Forrest, J., Johnston, R., & Poulsen, M. (2014). Ethnic Capital and Assimilation to the Great Australian (Homeownership) Dream: the early housing experience of Australia's skilled immigrants. *Australian Geographer*, 45(2), 109–129.
- Kim, A.H. and Boyd,M. (2009). Housing Tenure and Condos: Ownership by Immigrant Generations and the Timing of Arrival. *Canadian Journal of Urban Research*, 18(1): 47-73.

- Mendez, P. (2009a): Age At Arrival Differences In Home Ownership Attainment Among Immigrants And Their Foreign Born Offspring In Canada. *Population, Space and Place*, 15(1): 19-36.
- Preston, V., A.M. Murnaghan, R. Murdie, J. Logan, J. Wedlock, U. Anucha, S. Agrawal, S. D'Addario, and M.J. Kwak (2010). "Seeking Affordable Homeownership in the Suburbs: A Case Study of Immigrants in York Region." Canadian Issues/Thèmes Canadiens (Newcomer's Experiences of Housing and Homelessness in Canada). Montréal: Association for Canadian Studies, Fall 2010: 40-43.

### 1.5. Transitional and Supportive Housing

- Bassuk, E., & Geller, S. (2006). The role of housing and services in ending family homelessness. Housing Policy Debate, 17(4), 781-806. doi:10.1080/10511482.2006.9521590
- Bodonyi, J. (2005). Evaluation of the Sound Families Initiative: A closer look at homeless families' lives during and after supportive transitional housing Prepared for the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation). Seattle, WA: University of Washington School of Social Work, Northwest Institute for Children and Families.
- Bratt, R.G. (2002). Housing and family well-being. Housing Studies, 17(1), 13–26.
- Brennan, M. and Galvez, M. (2017). Housing as a Platform. Strengthening the Foundation for Well-Being. Urban Institute.
- Bucklaschuk, J. (2016). The IRCOM Model Housing and Wrap-Around Supports for Newcomers in Winnipeg The IRCOM Model: Housing and Wrap-Around Supports for Newcomers in Winnipeg. Canadian Centre for Policy Alternatives Manitoba.
- Cooper, S. (2013). *It's Getting Great: Government investment in Gilbert Park and Lord Selkirk Park*. Winnipeg, MB: Canadian Centre for Policy Alternatives Manitoba.
- Curry, S. R., & Abrams, L. S. (2015). "They Lay Down the Foundation and Then They Leave Room for Us to Build the House": A Visual Qualitative Exploration of Young Adults' Experiences of Transitional Housing. *Journal of the Society for Social Work and Research*, 6(1), 145–172. https://doi.org/10.1086/680188
- Klassen, J. (2018). "Here We're at Home": The WestEnd Commons Model of Subsidized Housing with Support. Winnipeg, MB: Canadian Centre for Policy Alternatives Manitoba.
- Kudlowitz, M., & Pinder, J. (2006). Formulas for Success: Housing Plus Services In Rural America. Washington, DC: Housing Assistance Council. Mayer.
- Meyer, D. A., Britt, T., Cardenas, S., Fromm, D., Kennedy, I., Magnuson, P., et al. (2006). Creating opportunities for families through resident services: A practitioner's manual. Washington, DC: Enterprise Community Partners, Inc.
- Popkin, S. et al. (2010). Inclusive Public Housing: Services for the Hard to House. Urban Institute.
- Popkin, S. et al. (2008). The Chicago Family Case Management Demonstration Developing a New Model for Serving "Hard to House" Public Housing Families. Urban Institute.
- Proscio, T. (2006). More than Roof and Walls. Why Resident Services are Indispensable Part of Affordable Housing. Enterprise Community Partners, Inc.

- Silver, J. (2006). North End Winnipeg's Lord Selkirk Park Housing Development: History, Comparative Context, Prospects. Winnipeg, MB: Canadian Centre for Policy Alternatives Manitoba.
- Taylor, J. (2012). Public Housing and Life Chances: Insights from a Longitudinal Study. *Urban Policy and Research*, 30 (4): 453-460.
- Walsh, C. et al. (2014). Permanent Supportive Housing for Families with Multiple Needs. A Report to Employment and Social Development Canada.
- Washington, T. (2002). The Homeless Need More Than Just A Pillow, They Need A Pillar: An Evaluation Of A Transitional Housing Program. *Families in Society: The Journal of Contemporary Social Services*, 83(2), 183-188. doi:10.1606/1044-3894.36
- Wiltshire, C. M. (1993). In Search Of A Place To Call Home: A Qualitative Evaluation Of A Transitional Housing Program For Refugee Families.

### 2) Language Proficiency Review References

- Baer, D. (2008). Community Context and Civic Participation in Immigrant Communities: A multi-level study of 137 Canadian Communities. *Working Paper Series*, (08).
- Bayliss, D., & Raymond, P. M. (2004). The Link Between Academic Success and L2 Proficiency in the Context of Two Professional Programs The Link Between Academic Success and L2 Proficiency in the Context of Two Professional Programs. *The Canadian Modern Language Review*, 61(1), 29–51.
- Boyd, M. (2009). *Official Language Proficiency and the Civic Participation of Immigrants*. Metropolis Language Matters Symphosium.
- Boyd, M., & Cao, X. (2017). Immigrant Language Proficiency, Earnings, and Language Policies. *Canadian Studies in Population*, *36*(1–2), 63. https://doi.org/10.25336/p6np62
- Chiswick, B. R., & Miller, P. W. (2002). Immigrant earnings: Language skills, linguistic concentrations and the business cycle. *Journal of Population Economics*, *15*(1), 31–57. https://doi.org/10.1007/PL00003838
- Dudley, L. (2007). Integrating Volunteering into the Adult Immigrant Second Language Experience. *Canadian Modern Language Review*, *63*(4), 539–561. https://doi.org/10.3138/cmlr.63.4.539
- Dustmann, C., & Fabbri, F. (2003). Language Proficiency and Labour Market Performance of Immigrants in the UK. *The Economic Journal*, *113*(156), 695–717.
- Ferrer, A., Green, D. A., &Riddell, W. C. (2004). The Effect of Literacy on Immigrant Earnings. The Journal of Human Resources, 2.
- Grondin, C. (2005). Knowledge Of Official Languages Among New Immigrants: How Important Is It In The Labour Market. In *Canadian Research Index*.
- Gulati, S., Watt, L., Shaw, N., Sung, L., Poureslami, I. M., Klaassen, R., ... Klassen, A. F. (2012).

  Communication and Language Challenges Experienced by Chinese and South Asian
  Immigrant Parents of Children with Cancer in Canada: Implications for Health Services
  Delivery. *Pediatr Blood Cancer*, (November 2010), 572–578. https://doi.org/10.1002/pbc
- Martirosyan, N. M., Hwang, E., & Wanjohi, R. (2015). Impact of English Proficiency on Academic Performance of International Students. *Journal of International Students*, *5*(1), 60–71.

- Ng, E., Pottie, K., & Spitzer, D. (2011). Official Language Proficiency And Self-Reported Health Among Immigrants To Canada. Statistics Canada.
- Oliver, R., Vanderford, S., & Grote, E. (2012). Evidence Of English Language Proficiency And Academic Achievement Of Non-English-Speaking Background Students. *Higher Education Research and Development*, *31*(4), 541–555. https://doi.org/10.1080/07294360.2011.653958
- Sentell, T., Shumway, M., & Snowden, L. (2007). Access to Mental Health Treatment by English Language Proficiency and Race / Ethnicity. *J Gen Intern Med* 22(Suppl 2):289–93. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11606-007-0345-7
- Skuterud, M. (2011). Language Skills in the New Economy and the Deteriorating Labour Market Performance of Canada's Immigrant Workers Mikal Skuterud \* Department of Economics University of Waterloo A Report Prepared for Human Resources Development and Skills Canada (HRSDC).
- Whiteside, K. E., Gooch, D., & Norbury, C. F. (2017). English Language Proficiency and Early School Attainment Among Children Learning English as an Additional Language. *Child Development*, 88(3), 812–827. https://doi.org/10.1111/cdev.12615

# 3) Financial Literacy Review References

- Atkinson, A. &. Messy, F. (2015). Financial Education for Migrants and their Families, OECD Working Papers on Finance, Insurance and Private Pensions, No. 38, OECD Publishing.
- Atkinson, A. & Messy, F. (2013). Promoting Financial Inclusion through Financial Education: OECD/INFE Evidence, Policies and Practice. OECD Working Papers on Finance, Insurance and Private Pensions, No.34, OECD Publishing.
- Barcellos, S. H., Carvalho, L. S., Smith, J. P., & Yoong, J. (2016). Financial Education Interventions Targeting Immigrants and Children of Immigrants: Results from a Randomized Control Trial. *Journal of Consumer Affairs*, 50(2), 263–285. https://doi.org/10.1111/joca.12097
- Cole, S., Sampson, T., & Zia, B. (2011). Prices or Knowledge? What Drives Demand for Financial Services in Emerging Markets? *The Journal of Finance, LXVI*(6), 1933–1967.
- Collins, J. M. (2013). The impacts of mandatory financial education: Evidence from a randomized field study. *Journal of Economic Behavior and Organization*, *95*, 146–158. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jebo.2012.08.011
- Doi, Y., McKenzie, D., and Zia, B. (2012) Who You Train Matters. Identifying Complementary Effects Of Financial Education On Migrant Households. World Bank Policy Research Working Paper, p.6157.
- Fernandes, D., Lynch, J. G., & Netemeyer, R. G. (2014). Financial Literacy, Financial Education, and Downstream Financial Behaviors. *Management Science*, 60(8), 1861–1883. https://doi.org/10.1287/mnsc.2013.1849
- Financial Consumer Agency of Canada. (2015). Managing Money and Planning for the Future: Key Findings from the 2014 Canadian Financial Capability Survey. https://www.canada.ca/content/dam/canada/financial-consumeragency/migration/eng/resources/researchsurveys/documents/managing-money-key-findings.pdf

- Gibson, J., McKenzie, D., & Zia, B. (2014). The impact of financial literacy training for migrants. World Bank Economic Review, 28(1), 130–161. https://doi.org/10.1093/wber/lhs034
- Lusardi, A., & Mitchell, O. S. (2007). Financial Literacy and Retirement Planning: New Evidence from the Rand American Life Panel.
- Miller, M., Reichelstein, J., Salas, C., & Zia, B. (2015). Can you help someone become financially capable? A meta-analysis of the literature. *World Bank Research Observer*, 30(2), 220–246. https://doi.org/10.1093/wbro/lkv009
- OECD (2017). G20/OECD INFE Report on Adult Financial Literacy in G20 Countries. Paris, OECD.
- OECD (2016a). OECD/INFE International Survey of Adult Financial Literacy Competencies. OECD, Paris, www.oecd.org/finance/OECD-INFE-International-Survey-of-Adult-Financial-Literacy-Competencies.pdf
- OECD (2016b). Responses to the Refugee Crisis. Financial Education and the Long-term Integration of Refugees and Migrants. OECD Directorate for Financial and Enterprise Affairs. https://www.oecd.org/daf/fin/financial-education/Financial-education-long-term-integration-refugees-migrants.pdf
- OECD. (2005). *Improving Financial Literacy. Analysis of Issues and Policies*. Paris, OECD.
- Prosper Canada. (2015). Financial Literacy and Newcomers to Canada. Prosper Canada Centre for Financial Literacy. http://prospercanada.org/getattachment/3ff26769-c2d4-4d9e-82e9-f56467e4eb31/Financial-Literacy-and-Newcomers-to-Canada.aspx
- Seshan, G. & Yang, D. (2014) Motivating Migrants: A Field Experiment On Financial Decision-Making In Transnational Households. *Journal of Development Economics*, (108)119-127.
- Stango, V., & Zinman, J. (2007). Fuzzy Math and Red Ink: When the Opportunity Cost of Consumption is Not What it Seems. *Working Paper*, 1–61. Retrieved from http://www.iza.org/en/papers/Zinman12072007.pdf

### 4. After-School Youth Programs Review References

- Bronte-Tinkew, J., Moore, K. A., & Shwalb, R. (2006). Measuring Outcomes for Children and Youth in Out-Of- School Time Programs: Moving Beyond Measuring Academics. Research and Results Fact Sheets - Child Trends, 14(October), 1–5.
- Este, D., & Ngo, H. V. (2011). A Resilience Framework To Examine Immigrant And Refugee Children And Youth In Canada. *Immigrant Children: Change, Adaptation, and Cultural Transformation*, (2011), 27–49.
- Durlak, J. A., & Weissberg, R. P. (2007). The impact of after-school programs that promote personal and social skills. *Learning*, 1–47. https://doi.org/10.3102/0034654308325693
- Durlak, J. A., Weissberg, R. P., & Pachan, M. (2010). A Meta-Analysis of After-School Programs That Seek to Promote Personal and Social Skills in Children and Adolescents. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 45(3–4), 294–309. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10464-010-9300-6
- El-Baba, M., Janaideh, R.A. & Chen, X. (2017). "Promoting Language, Literacy and Wellbeing of Syrian Refugee Children through Summer Camps". In H. Ramos and M. Ungar (Eds.), Refugee Children and Families in the Canadian Context, Canadian Diversities.

- Fredricks, J. A., & Simpkins, S. D. (2012). Promoting Positive Youth Development Through Organized After-School Activities: Taking a Closer Look at Participation of Ethnic Minority Youth. *Child Development Perspectives*, *6*(3), 280–287. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1750-8606.2011.00206.x
- Gouin, R. (2016). Boys And Girls Club Facilitating The Integration Of Newcomer Children And Youth 2016. (May).
- Hair, E. C., Moore, K. A., Hunter, D., & Kaye, J. W. (2001). Youth Development Outcomes Compendium. In *Edna MCConnell Clark Foundation*.
- Hall, G., Porche, M. V., Grossman, J., & Smashnaya, S. (2015). Practices and Approaches of Out-of-School Time Programs Serving Immigrant and Refugee Youth. *Journal of Youth Development*, 10(2), 72–87. https://doi.org/10.5195/jyd.2015.409
- Hurlock, D., McCullagh, K., & Schissel, C. (2004). *Conversations For Change: An Overview Of Services For Immigrant Children And Youth in Calgary*. (May).
- Lauer, P. A., Wilkerson, S. B., Apthorp, H. S., & Snow, D. (2006). Out-of-School-Time Programs: A Meta-Analysis of Effects for At-Risk Students. *Review of Educational Research*, *76*(2), 275–313.
- Lee, S. J., & Hawkins, M. R. (2008). "Family Is Here": Learning In Community-Based After-School Programs. *Theory Into Practice*, 47(1), 51–58. https://doi.org/10.1080/00405840701764763
- Mishna, F., & Daciuk, J. (2013). The RBC Foundation After-School Programs Evaluation.
- Riggs, N. R., Bohnert, A. M., Guzman, M. D., & Davidson, D. (2010). Examining the Potential of Community-Based After-School Programs for Latino Youth. *American Journal of Community Psychology*, 45(3–4), 417–429. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10464-010-9313-1
- Rossiter, M. J., Hatami, S., Ripley, D., & Rossiter, K. R. (2015). Immigrant and Refugee Youth Settlement Experiences: "A New Kind of War." *Journal of Chemical Information and Modeling*, 6(4.1), 1689–1699. https://doi.org/10.1017/CBO9781107415324.004
- Rossiter, M. J., & Rossiter, K. R. (2009a). Diamonds In The Rough: Bridging Gaps In Supports For At-Risk Immigrant And Refugee Youth. *Journal of International Migration and Integration*, 10(4), 409–429. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12134-009-0110-3
- Rossiter, M. J., & Rossiter, K. R. (2009b). Immigrant Youth And Crime: Stakeholder Perspectives On Risk And Protective Factors. *Prarie Metropolis Centre Working Paper Series*, 2(9), 1–17.
- Van Ngo, H., Calhoun, A., Worthington, C., Pyrch, T., & Este, D. (2017). The Unravelling of Identities and Belonging: Criminal Gang Involvement of Youth from Immigrant Families. *Journal of International Migration and Integration*, 18(1), 63–84. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12134-015-0466-5
- Vandell, D. L., Reisner, E. R., & Pierre, K. M. (2007). Outcomes Linked to High-Quality
  Afterschool Programs: Longitudinal Findings from the Study of Promising Afterschool
  Programs Background on the Study. *Policy Studies Associates, Inc.*, (October), 1–8.
- Wright, R., John, L., Duku, E., Burgos, G., Krygsman, A., & Esposto, C. (2010). After- School Programs As A Prosocial Setting For Bonding Between Peers. *Child and Youth Services*, 31(3–4), 74–91. https://doi.org/10.1080/0145935X.2009.524461
- YouthREX Website. https://youthrex.com/measures/

### 5) Childcare and Early Childhood Education Review References

- Crosnoe, R. (2013). *Preparing the Children of Immigrants For Early Academic Success*. 23(3), 144–149 [Online]. Retrieved from
  - https://www.migrationpolicy.org/sites/default/files/publications/Crosnoe-FINAL.pdf
- Crosnoe, R. (2007). Early child care and the school readiness of children from Mexican immigrant families. *International Migration Review*, *41*(1), 152–181. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1747-7379.2007.00060.x
- Dolan, N., & Sherlock, C. (2010). Family support through childcare services: Meeting the needs of Asylum-seeking and refugee families. *Child Care in Practice*, *16*(2), 147–165. https://doi.org/10.1080/13575270903493382
- Gormley, W. (2008). The effects of Oklahoma's pre-K program on Hispanic children. *Social Science Quarterly*, 89, 916–936.
- Gormley, W. T., & Gayer, T. (2005). Promoting School Readiness in Oklahoma. *Journal of Human Resources*, XL(3), 533–558. https://doi.org/10.3368/jhr.xl.3.533
- Gottfried, M. A., & Kim, H. Y. (2015). Formal versus informal prekindergarten care and school readiness for children in immigrant families: A synthesis review. *Educational Research Review*, 16, 85–101. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.edurev.2015.09.002
- Greenberg, J., & Kahn, J. M. (2011). The influence of immigration status on early childhood education and care enrollment. *Journal of Early Childhood Research*, 9(1), 20-35.
- Johnson, A. D., Han, W., Rhum, C. J., & Waldfogel, J. (2014). Child Care Subsidies And The School Readiness Of Children Of Immigrants. *Child Development*, 85(6), 2140-2150
- Johnson, A., D., Padilla, C. M., & Votruba-Drzal, E. (2017). Predictors of public early care and education use among children of low-income immigrants. *Children and Youth Services Review*, 73, 24-36.
- Karoly, L. A., & Gonzalez, G. C. (2011). Early Care and Education For Children In Immigrant Families. *The Future of Children*, 21(1), 71-101
- Magnuson, K., Lahaie, C., & Waldfogel, J. (2006). Preschool and School Readiness of Children of Immigrants\*. *Social Science Quarterly*, *87*(5), 1241–1262. Retrieved from http://dx.doi.org/10.1111/j.1540-6237.2006.00426.x
- Magnuson, K., & Waldfogel, J. (2005.) Early Childhood Care and Education: Effects on Ethnic and Racial Gaps in School Readiness. *Future of Children* 15(1):169–96.
- Morland, L., Ives, N., McNeely, C., Allen, C., & Migration Policy Institute (MPI), N. C. on I. I. P. (2016). Providing a Head Start: Improving Access to Early Childhood Education for Refugees. *Migration Policy Institute*.
- Park, M., Katsiaficas, C., & Mchugh, M. (2018). Responding To the Ecec Needs of Children of Refugees and Asylum Seekers in Europe and Noth America. In *Migration Policy Institute*.
- Soliday Hong, S. L., Sabol, T. J., Burchinal, M. R., Tarullo, L., Zaslow, M., & Peisner- Feinberg, E. S. (2019). ECE quality indicators and child outcomes: Analyses of six large child care studies. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 49, 202–217. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ecresq.2019.06.009

- Turney, K., & Kao, G. (2009). Pre-kindergarten child care and behavioral outcomes among children of immigrants. *Early Childhood Research Quarterly*, 24, 432–444.
- Vesely, C. K., Ewaida, M., & Kearney, K. B. (2013). Capitalizing on Early Childhood Education: Low-Income Immigrant Mothers' Use of Early Childhood Education to Build Human, Social, and Navigational Capital. *Early Education and Development*, *24*(5), 744–765. https://doi.org/10.1080/10409289.2012.725382
- Votruba-Drzal, E., Coley, R., Collins, M. A., & Miller, P. (2015). Center-Based Preschool And School Readiness Skills Of Children From Immigrant Families. *Early Education and Development*, 26(4), 549-573.

# **6) Community Connections Review References**

- Anderson, A.A. & Milligan, S. (2006). Social Capital and Community Building, In K. Fulbright-Anderson and A. Patricia (Eds.), *Aspen Roundtable on Community Change. Community Change: Theories, Practices and Evidence*. Washington, DC: Aspen Institute.
- Blanchflower, D.G. & Oswald, A.J. (2000). Well-being over Time in Britain and the USA. Working Paper No. 7487, National Bureau of Economic Research, Cambridge, MA (http://www.nber.org/papers/w7487).
- Bryant, C.A. & Norris, D. (2002). *Measuring Social Capital: The Canadian Experience*. Statistics Canada, August 2002. http://www.oecd.org/dataoecd/21/48/2381103.pdf
- Canadian Index of Wellbeing. (2016). How are Canadians really doing? Report of the Institute of Wellbeing. Retrieved from file:///Users/owner/Desktop/Canadian Index of wellbeing.pdf
- Citizenship and Immigration Canada. (2010). *Evaluation of the Welcoming Communities Initiative*.
- Esses, V. M., Hamilton, L. K., & Bennett-abuayyash, C. (2010). Characteristics of a Welcoming Community. *Welcoming Communities Initiative*, 1–121.
- Frideres, J. (1997). "Civic Participation, Awareness, Knowledge and Skills," from the Second National Metropolis Conference on Immigrants and Civic Participation: Contemporary Policy and Research Issues, Montreal, November 1997.
- Goodkind, J. R. & Foster-Fishman, P. G. (2002). Integrating Diversity and Fostering Interdependence: Ecological Lessons Learned About Refugee Participation in Multiethnic Communities. *Journal of Community Psychology*, 30:389-409
- Hou, F., Schellenberg, G., & Berry, J. (2016). Analytical Studies Branch Research Paper Series Patterns and Determinants of Immigrants' Sense of Belonging to Canada and Their Source Country. Statistics Canada.
- Hynie, M., Korn, A., & Tao, D. (2016). Social Context and Social Integration for Government Assisted Refugees in Ontario, Canada (pp. 183-227). In M. Poteet and S. Nourpanah (Eds.), *After the Flight: The Dynamics of Refugee Settlement and Integration*, Newcastle Upon Tyne, UK: Cambridge Scholars.
- Kazemipur, A. (2012). The Community Engagement of Immigrants in Host Societies: The Case of Canada. *International Migration*, *50*(SUPPL. 1). https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2435.2010.00638.x

- Lai, Y., & Hynie, M. (2010). Community Engagement and Well-Being of Immigrants: The Role of Knowledge. *Thèmes Canadiens*, Été 2010, 93–97.
- Lamba, N. K., & Krahn, H. (2007). Social capital and refugee resettlement: The social networks of refugees in Canada. *Journal of International Migration and Integration / Revue de l'integration et de La Migration Internationale*, 4(3), 335–360. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12134-003-1025-z
- OECD. (2001). The Well-being of Nations. The Role of Human and Social Capital. *Centre for Educational Research and Innovation*, 118.
- Painter, G., & Yu, Z. (2010). Immigrants and housing markets in mid-size metropolitan areas. International Migration Review, 44(2), 442–476. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1747-7379.2009.00787.x
- Pearce, P. W. J. (2008). Bridging, Bonding, and Trusting: The Influence of Social Capital and Trust on Immigrants' Sense of Belonging to Canada. *Atlantic Metropolis Centre*, (18).
- Putnam, R. (1995). Bowling Alone: America's Declining Social Capital. *Journal of Democracy* 6 (1995): 65-78.
- Ravanera, Z. R., Esses, V. M., & Fernando, R. (2013). Integration and "Welcome-ability" Indexes : Measures of Community Capacity to Integrate Immigrants. *Population Change and Lifecourse Strategic Knowledge Cluster Discussion Paper Series*, 1(1).
- Ross, N. (2002). Community Belonging and Health. Health Reports, 13(3), 33–39.
- Schellenberg, G. (2004). Perceptions of Canadians: A sense of belonging, confidence and trust. Canadian Social Trends, 11-008(11), 16–21.
- Schellenberg, G. & Maheux, H. (2007). Immigrants' Perspectives on Their First Four Years in Canada: Highlights from Three Waves of the Longitudinal Survey of Immigrants to Canada. Ottawa, ON: Canadian Social Trends, Statistics Canada.
- Scott, K., Selbee, K., & Reed, P. (2006). Making Connections: Social and Civic Engagement among Canadian Immigrants. Ottawa, ON: Canadian Council on Social Development.
- Sinha, M. (2015). Canadian Identity, 2013. *Spotlight on Canadians: Results from the General Social Survey*, (89). Retrieved from https://www150.statcan.gc.ca/n1/pub/89-652-x/89-652-x2015005-eng.htm
- Turcotte, M. (2015). Spotlight on Canadians: Results from the general social survey trends in social capital in Canada. Statistics Canada (89), 1–18. Retrieved from http://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/89-652-x/89-652-x2015001-eng.pdf
- Uppal, S., & LaRochelle-Cote, S. (2016). Understanding the increase in voting rates between the 2011 and 2015 federal elections. Statistics Canada, (75). Retrieved from https://www.statcan.gc.ca/pub/75-006-x/2016001/article/14669-eng.htm
- Vancouver Foundation. (2012). Connections and Engagement.
- Weaver, R. D., & Habibov, N. (2012). Social capital, human capital, and economic well-being in the knowledge economy: Results from Canada's general social survey. *Journal of Sociology and Social Welfare*, 39(2), 31–53.